



Annual Security Report

Tahlequah — Broken Arrow — Muskogee

In compliance with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (20 USC § 1092(1), 34 CFR 668.46)

Distributed: 10-01-2024

Table of Contents

Notice of Availability of the Annual Security Report	5
Introduction	6
Compliance with the Clery Act	6
Northeastern State University's "Clery Geography"	7
Reporting	7
Procedures	7
Daily Crime Log	8
Police Enforcement Authority	8
Reporting Concerning Behaviors and Other Incidents	8
Confidential Crime Reporting	8
Campus Security Authorities	g
Safety	11
Emergency Response and Evacuation Procedures	11
Emergency Response	13
General Emergency Response Protocols	14
Timely Warning Policy	15
Missing Student Notification	16
Firearms on Campus	16
Facilities and Access to Campus	16
Lost and Found	17
Alcohol and Drug	17
Crime Prevention	19
Personal Safety	20
Violence Prevention and Educational Programming	21
Sexual Violence	24
Victim Information	25
On and Off Campus Resources	26
Medical Services	26
Interim Measures	27
Disciplinary Proceedings	27
Conduct Process	29
Sex Offender Registry	45

Title IX and Compliance	45
Title IX Coordinator:	45
Northeaster n State University Police Department:	45
Confidential Reporting Options	46
Online Reporting Option	46
Statement on Procedure	46
Grievance Procedure	47
General Requirements	47
Emergency Removal	47
Formal Complaint	48
Notice of Allegations	48
Advisors	49
Investigation	49
Investigation Report	49
Live Hearings	50
Appeals (Students Only)	51
Informal Resolution	51
Procedural Considerations	52
Jurisdiction	52
Confidentiality	52
Federal Statistical Reporting Obligations:	52
Federal Timely Warning Reporting Obligations:	52
Cooperation with Law Enforcement	53
Records Maintenance	53
Retaliation	53
Special Provisions	53
Distinct and Separate Process	53
Good Samaritan/Limited Immunity	53
Notification of Outcomes	53
Pregnant or Parenting Students and Employees	54
Title IX Coordinator as Complainant	54
Crime Statistics	54
Definition of Terms for Statistical Charts	54

Crime Definitions	55
Obtaining Reports	57
Working Relationships with Other Law Enforcement Agencies	57
Off-Campus Crime	57
2021-2023 CRIME STATISTICS FOR TAHLEQUAH CAMPUS	58
2021-2023 CRIME STATISTICS FOR BROKEN ARROW CAMPUS	61
2021-2023 CRIME STATISTICS FOR MUSKOGEE CAMPUS	64
2023 Annual Fire Safety Report	67
A requirement of the Higher Education Opportunity Act instructs any institution that maintain campus student housing facility must collect fire statistics, publish an Annual Fire Safety Reposition of the Glery Act requirements are new and separate from the Clery Act requirements to reduce administrative burden and to make it easier for students and parents to find the interegulations for data collection and dissemination will be published here.	ort, and . However,
Reporting Fires and Fire Safety Concerns	67
Fire Safety Drills	67
Fire Safety Awareness	68
Fire Alarm Systems & Equipment	68
Fire Evacuation	69
FIRE SAFETY SYSTEMS FOR STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES, TAHLEQUAH CAMPUS	70
FIRE STATISTICS FOR STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES, TAHLEQUAH CAMPUS	71
Appendix A	72
Appendix B- Oklahoma Statutes	76

Notice of Availability of the Annual Security Report

The Federal Student Right-to-Know, Crime Awareness and Campus Security Act, now cited as the "Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act" and herein identified as the "Clery Report," requires institutions of higher education to annually prepare and publish a report concerning campus crime statistics and security policies. The report is distributed annually through appropriate publications, mailings, or computer networks to all current students and employees, as well as to prospective students and employees upon request.

The annual security report is prepared by the Compliance Coordinator and/or designee in partnership with the University Police department. It is prepared through comparison of records collected from various NSU offices. Statistics are gathered from University Police, HawkReach Counseling Services, Student Conduct and Development, and University Housing. The 2024 Annual Security Report includes crime statistics from the previous three years; 2023, 2022, and 2021. Questions regarding the 2024 Annual Security Report should be sent to:

Name	Title Contact Information		
Jamie Hall	Title IX & Compliance	918.444.2120	
	Coordinator titleix@nsuok.edu		
Dr. Sheila Self	Dean of Students	918.444.2120	
		selfsj@nsuok.edu	
James Bell	Director of Public Safety, Chief	918.444.2468	
	of Police bell02@nsuok.edu		

An email notification is sent to all enrolled students and employees providing a link to the report. It can be access directly at https://offices.nsuok.edu/publicsafety/CLERY-Reporting. To request a printed copy, send an email to studentaffairs@nsuok.edu and provide your full mailing address or preferred campus for pick up at the following offices:

Office	Location	Contact Information	
NSUPD Tahlequah	Admin. Building, Lower Level	918.444.2468	
	601 N Grand Ave	university_police@nsuok.edu	
	Tahlequah, OK 74464		
NSUPD Broken Arrow	Business & Technology 101	918.444.2468	
	3100 E. New Orleans	university_police@nsuok.edu	
	Broken Arrow, OK 74014		
NSUPD Muskogee	Administration Building	918.444.2468	
	2400 W Shawnee St	university_police@nsuok.edu	
	Muskogee, OK 74401		
Vice President for Student	Seminary Hall 141	918.444.2120	
Affairs	601 N. Grand Ave	studentaffairs@nsuok.edu	
	Tahlequah, OK 74464		
Office of Student Affairs-	Admin. Services Rm 211	918.449.6136	
Broken Arrow	3100 E. New Orleans	studentaffairsba@nsuok.edu	
	Broken Arrow, OK 74014		
Human Resources	Admin. Building, Suite 116	918.444.2230	
	601 N. Grand Ave	humanresources@nsuok.edu	
	Tahlequah, OK 74464		

Introduction

Compliance with the Clery Act

Choosing a postsecondary institution is a major decision for students and their families. Along with academic, financial, and geographic considerations, the issue of campus safety is a vital concern.

The Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (Clery Act) is a federal mandate requiring all institutions of higher education (IHEs) that participate in the federal student financial aid program to disclose information about crime on their campuses and in the surrounding communities.

The Clery Act, formerly known as the Crime Awareness and Campus Security Act, was signed in 1990 and is named after 19-year-old Jeanne Clery, who was raped and murdered in her Lehigh University residence hall in 1986. Clery's parents lobbied Congress to enact the law when they discovered students at Lehigh had not been notified about 38 violent crimes that had occurred on campus in the three years prior to Clery's murder.

The Act applies to every institution of higher education that receives federal financial aid. Title II of the Act was called the "Campus Crime Awareness and Campus Security Act of 1990." It requires institutions of higher education to distribute to all current students and employees, and applicants for enrollment or employment, the following information:

- Policies regarding procedures and facilities for students and others to report crimes or other emergencies on campus and the university's response to such reports.
- Policy concerning security of and access to campus facilities, including residences, and security considerations used in the maintenance of campus facilities.
- Campus law enforcement policies, including enforcement authority, and policies encouraging accurate and prompt reporting of crimes.
- Description of the type and frequency of programs designed to inform students and employees about campus security procedures and crime prevention procedures and practices to encourage students and employees to be responsible for their own security and security of others.
- Annual reporting of statistics concerning specific types of crimes.
- Policy regarding possession, use and sale of alcoholic beverages and enforcement of state underage drinking laws.
- Policy regarding possession, use and sale of illegal drugs and enforcement of federal and state drug laws.
- Description of drug and alcohol abuse education programs.
- Campus sexual assault programs and procedures to prevent sex offenses.
- Information regarding emergency response and evacuation procedures.
- Policies, procedures, statistics and programs associated with sexual misconduct.
- Fire safety information and statistics/equipment for campus residential facilities.
- Policy regarding missing student notification procedures.

The most recent update in 2016 seeks to increase transparency, accountability, and education surrounding the issue of campus violence, including sexual assaults, domestic violence, dating violence and stalking.

Northeastern State University's "Clery Geography"

Northeastern State University (NSU) is Oklahoma's fourth-largest public four-year institution and one of six regional institutions governed by the Regional University System of Oklahoma board. The university serves as a learning hub in northeast Oklahoma formed by three campuses in Tahlequah, Broken Arrow and Muskogee, which together served an average of 9,000 students.

Clery Geography is the geographic area for which an institution is responsible for disclosing crime statistics. The following definitions describe the areas that cumulatively account for an institution's Clery Geography.

- On Campus: Any building or property owned or controlled by an institution within the same
 reasonably contiguous geographic area and used by the institution in direct support of, or in a
 manner related to, the institution's educational purposes, including residence halls. Also, any
 building or property that is within or reasonably contiguous to the area identified in the first
 part of this definition that is owned by the institution but controlled by another person, is
 frequently used by students, and supports institutional purposes (such as a food or other retail
 vendor).
- On Campus- Residential: any student housing facility that is owned or controlled by the
 institution, or is located on property that is owned or controlled by the institution, and is within
 the reasonably contiguous geographic area that makes up the campus is considered an oncampus student housing facility.
- Non-Campus Property: Any building or property owned or controlled by a student organization
 that is officially recognized by the institution; or Any building or property owned or controlled by
 an institution that is used in direct support of, or in relation to, the institution's educational
 purposes, is frequently used by students, and is not within the same reasonably contiguous
 geographic area of the institution.
- Public Property: All public property, including thoroughfares, streets, sidewalks, and parking facilities, that is within the campus, or immediately adjacent to and accessible from campus

Reporting

Procedures

Crime victims and witnesses to a crime, regardless of the crime, are encouraged to promptly report incidents to the NSU Police Department or another appropriate police agency. To report a crime, the victim, if he or she elects to, or witness needs only to call the police and a police officer will meet them to gather information.

An official report will be made with copies available to the victim after a completed investigation. Each month, the number of incidents in each category of crime are counted and reported to the Oklahoma State Bureau of Investigation, which in turn provides the information to the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Crime victims and witnesses may request assistance in notifying law enforcement authorities if the victim so chooses. In addition, a crime victim has the option to decline to notify law enforcement or campus authorities. Each year, the FBI publishes a book of crime statistics, "Crime in the United States," which includes accurate accounting of criminal incidents that occurred on the NSU Tahlequah campus.

If you are the victim of a crime or a witness to one, you should do the following:

- 1. Call the police immediately: Dial 918-444-2468 for NSU PD or dial 9-1-1.
- 2. <u>Obtain a description:</u> Attempt to obtain a description of the offender(s), including gender, age, race, hair, clothing and distinguishing features. Also attempt to obtain a description and license number of any vehicle(s) involved. Note the direction of travel of any offender(s) or vehicle(s) and report these to the police.
- 3. <u>Preserve the crime scene:</u> Do not touch any items involved in the incident. Close off the area of the incident and do not allow anyone in the crime area until police arrive.

Daily Crime Log

A daily crime log is available for review 24-hours a day via the NSU Police Department. You can visit us in person to ask questions about the Daily Crime Log. The information in the crime log includes the police incident number, crime classification, date reported, date occurred, time occurred, general location and disposition of each crime. The log does not include names of parties involved except for the names of persons arrested.

Police Enforcement Authority

The Northeastern State University Police Department is made up of certified police officers who have the same powers of arrest and law enforcement authority as municipal and county officers (Oklahoma State Statute, 74 O.S. 360). They work with state, tribal and local law enforcement authorities to investigate crimes on campus and in the community. There are always officers on duty who can be reached through our 24-hour dispatch.

Our jurisdiction includes all NSU owned facilities and the adjacent public property. We encourage everyone in the community to report any offense or disturbance promptly. All reports of criminal behavior will be handled in an appropriate and professional manner.

Reporting Concerning Behaviors and Other Incidents

NSU has an online reporting system that can be used by any person, including the victim of an incident, to report incidents such as concerning behaviors of others. This system delivers reported details to selected members of NSU's behavioral intervention team via email and therefore should not be used when time is critical. This reporting mechanism should not be used to report incidents that require an immediate response by police, fire or ambulance personnel. It is intended as accessible means to report on incidents that have happened. If you have concerns that a person(s) may be planning to harm themselves or others, call University Police.

Reports can be submitted via the following link in this report: <u>Report Concern or Incident</u> or by visiting this site address at https://www.nsuok.edu/ReportConcern.aspx

Confidential Crime Reporting

Confidential reporting of crimes is allowed at NSU. If, for a personal reason, a person does not wish to report an on-campus crime or suspected crime to the police, that person may anonymously report it by requesting to make the report anonymously, by using the anonymous text message feature of the Omnigo app (see page 19).

Crimes Disclosed to a Pastoral or Mental Health Counselor

To be exempt from disclosing reported offenses to appropriate Northeastern State University officials, a pastoral or mental health counselor must be acting in their role as a pastoral or professional counselor. This exemption does not relieve counselors of the duty to exercise reasonable care to protect a foreseeable victim from danger posed by the person being counseled. When speaking to a victim or witness to a crime, counselors are encouraged to inform the individual to report the crime to the police.

A pastoral counselor is a person who is associated with a religious order or denomination, is recognized by that religious order or denomination as someone who provides confidential counseling, and is functioning within the scope of that recognition as a pastoral counselor.

A mental health counselor is a person whose official responsibility includes providing mental health counseling to members of the institution's community and who is functioning within the scope of his or her license or certification. This definition applies to professional counselors who are not employees of the institution but are under contract to provide counseling to the institution.

Note that the pastoral counselor or mental health counselor must report the crime if it occurred on campus to NSU Police for purposes of including the incident in the annual crime statistics only. Personal information will not be conveyed when making this disclosure unless the victim consents to such disclosure.

Campus Security Authorities

The U.S. Department of Education defines campus security authorities as:

- A campus police department or a campus security department of an institution.
- Any individual or individuals who have responsibility for campus security but who do not
 constitute a campus police department or a campus security department (e.g., an individual
 who is responsible for monitoring the entrance into institutional property).
- Any individual or organization specified in an institution's statement of campus security policy as an individual or organization to which students and employees should report criminal offenses.
- An official of an institution who has significant responsibility for student and campus activities, including, but not limited to, student housing, student discipline and campus judicial proceedings. An official is defined as any person who has the authority and the duty to act or respond to particular issues on behalf of the institution.

<u>A CSA is responsible</u> for reporting Clery Act crimes they discovered themselves or which they learned about in good faith from others. These crimes (including weapons, drug, alcohol offenses, dating violence, stalking, etc.) are reported to University Police Department who will investigate the incident or refer it to the appropriate office or agency for investigation.

<u>A CSA is not responsible</u> for determining whether or not a crime took place – that is the responsibility of the law enforcement agency having jurisdiction. A CSA should never attempt to apprehend an alleged perpetrator of a crime. This too is the responsibility of law enforcement. It is also not the responsibility of a CSA to try and convince a victim of a crime to contact law enforcement if the victim chooses not to do so. However, if the crime is a sex crime, including sexual harassment, NSU policy requires that it be

reported to the appropriate department or individual with authority to take corrective action or the appropriate law enforcement agency for investigation.

Designated Campus Security Authorities

The following individuals are designated campus security authorities as persons with significant responsibility for student and campus activities:

Athletic Department

- Director of Athletics
- Assistant/Associate Athletic Directors
- Head Coaches for athletic teams
- Assistant/Associate Coaches for athletic teams
- Graduate Assistants for athletic teams
- Athletic trainers

Academic Affairs

- Vice President of Academic Affairs/Provost
- Assistant/Associate Vice President of Academic Affairs
- Deans
- Assistant/Associate Deans
- Program/Department Chairs
- Director, University Advising
- Academic Advisors
- · Director of Music, Band, Ensembles
- Graduate Assistants for Music, Band, Ensembles

Administration and Finance

- Vice President of Administration and Finance
- Assistant/Associate Vice President for Facilities, Grounds and Construction
- Human Resources Professional Staff
- Director of Public Safety
- Sworn Police Officers
- Communication Officers
- Professional Parking Staff
- Student Parking Enforces

Student Affairs

- Vice President of Student Affairs
- Dean of Students
- Assistant Vice President of Enrollment Management
- Assistant Vice President of Auxiliary Services
- Conference and Events Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Student Engagement Professional Staff and Graduate Staff

- Advisors of student organizations
- Career Services Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Admissions and Recruitment Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Riverhawk Ambassadors
- Student Conduct and Development Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Financial Aid Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Student Disabilities Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Riverhawk Wellness Center Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Housing and Residence Life Professional Staff and Graduate Staff
- Resident Assistants

Other

- Title IX Coordinator
- Ombudsperson
- Director, Center for Tribal Studies
- Chief Information Officer

Safety

Emergency Response and Evacuation Procedures

General Information

The University Police Department shall place into immediate effect the appropriate procedures as determined by the situation. University Police, as first responders, shall assume incident command and if necessary notify the Incident Management Team (IMT). The IMT will assume incident command and will contact the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) regarding the emergency and the possible need for a declaration of a university state of emergency. Any other university official deemed necessary may be contacted at that time. The Incident Management Team will notify and conduct liaison activities with the university administration, federal, state, tribal and local agencies.

In some emergency situations, emergency personnel may order protective actions. Typically, these protective actions are either to evacuate to a safe area or to shelter in place. It is possible that in some situations one part of the campus may evacuate and another may shelter in place or require no action. When such actions are warranted, you will be appropriately advised by NSUPD or via the NSU Emergency Alert System (EAS), door-to-door notifications, or other appropriate means. During an actual disaster, Building Coordinators are to use their best judgment (with or without an official disaster notification) as to whether to evacuate or shelter in place. An evacuation is an organized exit from a building or area to reach a safe area. Upon notification to evacuate, consult the building(s) evacuation diagram or directions given by responding personnel.

Emergency Procedures Documents

The Emergency Procedures document is designed to provide a snapshot of essential aspects of the NSU Emergency Operations Plan as a reference tool for the university community. The basic emergency procedures outlined in this guide are to enhance the protection of lives and property through effective use of University and University community resources. Whenever an emergency affecting the university

reaches proportions that cannot be handled by routine measures, the President/designee may declare a state of emergency, and these contingency guidelines may be implemented. Since an emergency may be sudden and without warning, these procedures are designed to be flexible in order to accommodate contingencies of various types. Emergency Procedures Jurisdiction These procedures apply to all students, faculty, staff, visitors, buildings, and grounds owned/operated by Northeastern State University (NSU) to include those peripheral areas adjoining the University.

Declaration and Definitions of an Incident

The authority to declare and end a university state of emergency rests with the University President or his/her designee. The University President/designee, in consultation with the University Incident Management Team (IMT), serves as the overall incident command during any minor emergency, major emergency or disaster. The following definitions of an emergency are provided as guidelines to assist university community response. Any emergency should be reported to University Police Department as soon as possible.

- 1. Minor Incident (NIMS Type 5 Event): Any incident, potential or actual, which will not seriously affect the overall functional capacity of the university (examples- medical calls, accidents, alarms).
- 2. Major Incident (NIMS Type 4 Event): Any incident, potential or actual, which affects an entire building or buildings, and which will disrupt the overall operations of the university. Outside emergency services will likely be required, as well as, major efforts from university support services. Major policy considerations and decisions will usually be required from the university administration during times of crisis. In all cases of major emergencies, an Incident Command Post may be activated, and the appropriate support and operational plans will be executed (examples- football games, concerts, commencements).
- 3. Disaster (NIMS Type 1-3 Event): Any event or occurrence which has taken place and has seriously impaired or halted the operations of the university. In some cases, mass casualties and severe property damage may be sustained. A coordinated effort of all university resources is required to effectively control the situation. Outside emergency services will be essential. In all cases of disaster, an Incident Command Post will be activated, and the appropriate support and operational plans will be executed (examples- tornado, flood, natural disaster, terrorism).

Assumptions

- The NSU Emergency Procedures are designed to address the problems likely to be encountered at a university during an incident. The following are general guidelines: An emergency or a disaster may occur at any time of the day or night, weekend or holiday, with little or no warning.
- The succession of events in an emergency is not predictable. Operational plans will serve only as a guide and checklist, and may require field modification in order to meet the requirements of the emergency.
- Disasters may affect residents adjacent to the university, therefore city, county, and federal emergency services may not be available. A major emergency may be declared if information indicates that such a condition is developing or is probable.
- An emergency or disaster may occur with non-university persons on university property and may not be restricted to university students and/or personnel.

Emergency Response

The Incident Commander will authorize the use of the Emergency Alert Systems (EAS) as necessary to transmit information and instructions to large segments of the university notifying of an emergency situation. Communication methods include, but are not limited to: NSU website, university television cable system, telephone alert system, email, text messaging, public announcement systems, and NSU computer network broadcast, NSU website and social media.

Response Teams

The following groups are formally organized to address the needs of the university community before, during, and after an emergency.

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) – The physical location at which the coordination of information and resources to support incident management (on-scene operations) activities normally takes place. An EOC may be a temporary facility or may be located in a more central or permanently established facility, perhaps at a higher level of organization within a jurisdiction. EOC's may be organized by major functional disciplines (e.g., Federal, State, regional, tribal, city, county), or some combination thereof. Staffing of the EOC may include but not limited to the University President's Cabinet.

University Incident Management Team (IMT) – An incident Commander and the appropriate Command and General Staff personnel assigned to an incident. The level of training and experience of the IMT members, coupled with the identified formal response requirements and responsibilities of the IMT, are factors in determining "type." or level, of IMT.

Campus-Community Emergency Response Team (C-CERT) - C-CERT is a team trained to respond to emergency situations as additional support to professional responders. C-CERT may be dispatched by the IMT or respond independently in the event of an emergency.

Building Coordinators – Building Coordinators are responsible for maintaining records of occupancy, classes and activities for designated University buildings. Building Coordinators aid in mitigating and preparing for crisis by building community awareness of emergency response guidelines. They also notify occupants of building exits, provide safety resources, assist emergency personnel with response actions and offer direction and instruction as needed to occupants.

Emergency Operations Plan and Training

The Department of Public Safety (DPS) will have overall responsibility for coordinating and implementing the Emergency Operations Plan. As part of their responsibility, the DPS will meet once, annually to evaluate the emergency procedures as outlined in the Emergency Operations Plan and consider revisions and updates as necessary. The DPS will also assume responsibility of ensuring that each university building has appropriate building coordinators assigned, and that emergency evacuation procedures are posted throughout each facility. DPS will coordinate routine "table-top" exercises, drills, simulations, and general training. DPS is charged with the coordination of training with the local emergency planning committee to exercise the joint response to incidents. Uniformed University Police Officers are on duty twenty-four (24) hours per day on the Tahlequah campus. Officers are on duty during peak times at both the Broken Arrow and Muskogee campuses.

General Emergency Response Protocols

Severe Weather

When severe weather approaches, NSU Department of Public Safety monitors meteorologist reports, civil defense information and the local radio. DPS will notify the campus community of the weather emergency and the appropriate actions to be taken via the EAS.

Severe Weather – General

- Listen to radio, television and NSU information systems for weather updates:
- NSU Facebook page
- NSU Homepage
- Local Radio Stations: KEOK-FM (102.1), KRMG (102.3 or AM 740), KFAQ (AM 1170)
- Local television stations: KTUL (Channel 8), KOTV (Channel 6), KJRH (Channel 2), FOX (Channel 23)

Flash Flood Watch- When weather conditions are favorable for the development of flash flooding a flash flood watch is issued. A watch does not mean that the flood is actually occurring; only that conditions have created a significant risk for it.

Flash Flood Warning- When flash flooding is occurring a flash flood warning is issued. If flash flood actually does occur urgent action should be taken. Avoid drainage and low lying areas.

Severe Thunderstorm Watch- When weather conditions are favorable for the development of severe thunderstorms a severe thunderstorm watch is issued. A watch does not mean that the severe weather is actually occurring; only that conditions have created a significant risk for it.

Severe Thunderstorm Warning- When severe thunderstorms have formed a severe thunderstorm warning is issued. If severe weather actually does occur urgent action should be taken.

Tornado Watch- When weather conditions are favorable for the development of severe thunderstorms that are capable of producing tornadoes a tornado watch is issued. A tornado watch therefore implies that it is also a severe thunderstorm watch.

Tornado Warning - The saferooms and shelters will not be opened until a Tornado Warning was issued. - Go to saferooms or shelters. If you cannot get to a shelter: Go directly to an enclosed, windowless area in the center of the building – away from glass and on the lowest floor possible. Then, crouch down and cover your head. Interior stairwells are usually good places to take shelter, and if not crowded, allow you to get to a lower level quickly. Stay off the elevators; you could be trapped in them if the power is lost.

The following buildings have basements that are designated as storm shelters:

Tahlequah Campus

- University Center
- Business and Technology Building (overflow location)

Broken Arrow Campus (rooms with gray steel doors)

- Administration: Room 170 and restrooms on either side of Room 170
- Business and Technology: Room 127 and Room 128
- Education: Rooms 118, 120, 136, 137 and 138
- Liberal Arts: Rooms 116, 118, 130 and 132

Muskogee Campus

- Administration: Rooms 108, 109, 110, both bathrooms
- Synar Building: East Hallway bathrooms, under stairwells.

Evacuation or Shelter-in-place plans

In some emergency situations, emergency personnel may order protective actions. Typically, these protective actions are either to evacuate to a safe area or to shelter in place. It is possible that in some situations one part of the campus may evacuate and another may shelter in place or require no action. When such actions are warranted, you will be appropriately advised by NSUPD or via the NSU EAS, door-to-door notifications, or other appropriate means. During an actual disaster, if Building Coordinators have not been notified, they are to use their best judgment as to whether to evacuate or shelter in place. An evacuation is an organized exit from a building or area to reach a safe area. Upon notification to evacuate, consult the building(s) evacuation diagram or directions given by responding personnel.

- Secure any hazardous materials or equipment before leaving.
- Assist all individuals with disabilities or special needs.
- Do not use elevators.
- Take personal belongings (keys, purses, wallets, backpacks, bags etc.) and proceed in an orderly fashion to the nearest available exit.
- Keep streets, fire lanes, hydrants, and walkways clear for emergency vehicles and crews.
- Based on the type of emergency, select a safe area away from the building- not in an adjacent parking lot.

Shelter in Place

When emergency conditions do not warrant or allow evacuation, the safest method to protect individuals may be to take shelter inside a university building and await further instructions.

- Move indoors or remain there avoid windows and areas with glass
- If available, take a cellphone, computer, radio or television to the room to track emergency status
- Keep cellular and land lines free for emergency responders. DO NOT CALL 911 FOR INFORMATION.
- Shelter in place instructions will be provided by the Emergency Alert Systems and social media

Timely Warning Policy

In the event that a situation arises, either on or off campus, that, in the judgment of university officials, constitutes an ongoing or continuing threat to the NSU community, a "timely warning" will be issued by the department of Public Safety. The Emergency Alert System (EAS) notifies the community through text messages, emails, voicemails and a campus wide public address system. The University will, without delay, and considering the safety of the community, determine the content of the notification and initiate the EAS, unless the notification will, in the professional judgment of the concerned authorities, compromise efforts to assist victims or to contain, respond to, or otherwise mitigate the emergency. An institution is not required to provide a timely warning with respect to crimes reported to a pastoral or professional counselor. The purpose of timely warnings is to provide the University community with information relevant to their safety. Anyone with information warranting a timely warning should report the circumstances to the University Police Department 918.444.2468.

Missing Student Notification

In accordance with Section 485 of the Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1092(j), Northeastern State University has developed this investigation and notification policy regarding students who reside in campus housing and have been reported as missing. Any missing student report must be referred immediately to the University Police Department. Any student residing in University Housing who has been reported missing for 24 hours will be investigated by the University Police Department. Anyone may report a student residing in University Housing as missing to the University Police Department either by phone or in person. Any resident may register a confidential contact person to be notified in the case that the resident is reported missing. Only campus officials and law enforcement may have access to this confidential contact. If you are interested in registering a confidential contact you may come to the University Police Department, 830 N. Grand Ave., to complete the process. Due to the confidentiality concerns we will only register contacts in person. The registration of a confidential contact is not required for a student to be reported missing. All residents reported missing will be investigated. If the missing student is under 18 years old and not emancipated their parent or guardian will be notified. The University Police Department will begin an investigation immediately upon receiving a report of a resident missing for any amount of time. There is no 24-hour requirement.

Firearms on Campus

Oklahoma law, Title 21, section 1272 dealing with Unlawful Carry of firearms changed on November 1, 2019. The law removes the requirement for persons to obtain a permit to carry a weapon concealed or not concealed assuming the person meets certain requirements. This *does not change Title 21, section 1277*, which prohibits carrying a firearm onto any college or university property unless it meets one of three exceptions:

- 1. A weapon (firearms and other weapons) may be locked and otherwise properly stored in a vehicle parked in a designated parking area of campus.
- 2. Any campus property authorized for a specific individual by written consent of the President.
- 3. Law enforcement officers, on-duty or off-duty, may carry a firearm without specific permission from the President.

Any person found to be in possession of a firearm on campus property who does not meet a lawful exception is subject to arrest and prosecution. Weapons on campus policies are provided elsewhere in this report.

Facilities and Access to Campus

Northeastern State University is open to the public. University buildings will be open during business hours and while classes are in session. University buildings are secured by employees when business operations are completed. Residence halls are secured with electronic access or individual key fobs and access is given to students residing in facilities and such university employees needing access to perform their functions.

An informational publication (Student Housing Handbook – Guide to Campus Living) is provided by Housing and Residence Life as a guide for living in residence halls. All resident rooms and windows are equipped with locking devices. Educational programs are presented periodically to residents to increase awareness of safety and security issues. University housing facilities are patrolled by university police

officers on a regular basis. Residents are encouraged to keep doors and windows locked. Tenants should report any suspicious activity to NSU Police immediately.

Facilities and landscaping are maintained in a manner that minimizes hazardous conditions. Northeastern State University police officers regularly patrol and report any malfunctioning lights and other unsafe physical conditions to the Facilities Management for correction. Other members of Northeastern State University community are helpful when they report equipment problems to the Northeastern State University Police Department (918-444-2468) or Facilities Management (918-444-2400).

Lost and Found

Northeastern State University Police Department Lost and Found is located at the University Police Department, 600 N. Grand Ave., Tahlequah. Additionally, there are lost and found areas located in other campus buildings. After a certain period of time, all buildings and offices are encouraged to forward any found items to the Northeastern State University Police Department to maintain a central location for persons seeking lost property. Inquiries about lost and found property can be made by calling the University Police Department at 918-444-2468.

Outreach and Prevention Efforts

Alcohol and Drug

Northeastern State University seeks to encourage and sustain an academic environment that respects individual freedoms and promotes the health, safety and welfare of its students, faculty, staff and visitors. These participants are expected to know and follow the applicable laws and all Northeastern State University policies and regulations. Each person is responsible for his or her own behavior. Northeastern State University enforces compliance with state law and alcoholic beverage laws on campus and at University-sponsored events.

Drug Free Campus and Community

The Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act (DFSCA) of 1989 - also known as the Drug-Free Schools and Campuses Act - requires institutions of higher education to establish policies that address unlawful possession, use, or distribution of alcohol and illicit drugs. The DFSCA also requires the establishment of a drug and alcohol prevention program. All members of the NSU Community are encouraged to review the Drug Free Schools and Communities Act review. This information is distributed on a biennial basis.

Standards of Conduct

Use of illegal drugs, and the illegal use of alcoholic beverages, is identified as "conduct which adversely affects the university community." University regulations prohibit any unlawful possession, use, distribution, or sale of alcohol and other drugs by University students, faculty, staff, or guests to the University, on University-owned property and at all University sponsored activities. Northeastern State University students are also prohibited from the illegal use of drugs or alcohol whether on or off campus. The legal age for the consumption of alcohol is 21 years of age. Any underage student consuming alcohol is violating standards for student conduct. Additionally, excessive alcohol use can lead to additional violations, such as driving while intoxicated or public intoxication. Northeastern State University is designated as a tobacco-free environment. Smoking and the use of all tobacco products and e-cigarettes are prohibited.

Disciplinary Sanctions

The penalties for misconduct range from warning to expulsion- see the list in the list in the Conduct Process section. Typically, students who have violated the Student Code of Conduct will be referred to the Student Health Services for assessment and HawkReach Services to complete an individualized education plan. A Health and Substance Abuse Educator will meet with the student and complete an assessment covering alcohol and other drug use history, reason for referral, family and personal history, health concerns, safety issues, and the consequences associated with use. The educator will also assess the student's readiness for change and establish behavior change goals. NSU employee sanctions are listed in the employee handbook. Local, state, and federal laws provide for a variety of legal sanctions and penalties for the unlawful possession or distribution of illicit drugs and alcohol.

Health Risks

Specific serious health risks are associated with the use of alcohol and drugs. Some of the major risks are listed below.

Alcohol and Other Depressants (barbiturates, sedatives, and tranquilizers) - Abuse of alcohol and use of other depressant drugs can cause addiction, accidents as a result of impaired ability and judgment, alcohol poisoning, overdose when used with other depressants, damage to a developing fetus, and heart and liver damage. Amphetamines/Stimulants - Amphetamines and stimulants (speed, uppers, crank, caffeine, etc.) can speed up the nervous system which can cause increased heart and breathing rates, higher blood pressure, decreased appetite, headaches, blurred vision, dizziness, sleepiness, anxiety, hallucinations, paranoia, depression, convulsions and death due to a stroke or heart failure.

- <u>Anabolic Steroids</u> Anabolic steroids can seriously affect the liver, cardiovascular, and reproductive systems. They can cause sterility in males and females, as well as impotency in males
- Marijuana Marijuana may impair short-term memory, thinking, and physical coordination.
 Marijuana can cause panic reaction and increase the risk of lung cancer and emphysema. It can interfere with judgment, attention span, concentration, and overall intellectual performance.
 The use of marijuana impairs driving ability. The use of marijuana may cause psychological dependence and compromise the immune system.
- <u>Cocaine</u> The use of cocaine can cause addiction, cardiovascular system damage including heart attack, brain damage, seizures, lung damage, severe depression, paranoia, and psychosis. Similar risks are associated with other stimulants, such as speed and uppers.
- <u>Nicotine</u> Tobacco smoke contains thousands of chemical compounds, many of which are known to cause cancer. Nicotine, which is a central nervous system stimulant, produces an increase in heart and respiration rates, blood pressure, adrenaline production and metabolism. People can rapidly become physically and psychologically dependent on tobacco. Nicotine also compromises the immune system.
- Inhalants Inhalants are a diverse group of chemicals that easily evaporate and can cause intoxication when their vapors are inhaled. Most inhalants are central nervous system depressants. Use of these drugs slows down many body functions. High does can cause severe breathing failure and sudden death. Chronic abuse of some of these chemicals can lead to irreversible liver damage and other health problems.
- <u>Prescription Drug Abuse</u> Prescription drug abuse can cause adverse reactions, dependency, withdrawal, and overdose.

Alcohol and Drug Education Programs

<u>Treatment Options and Education Resources</u>- A variety of resources exist for alcohol and other drug prevention education, counseling and referral. For detailed information concerning these resources available from the University and community agencies, students may contact Outreach and Prevention at 918-444-4735 located at the south entrance to the John Vaughn Library on the Tahlequah campus or HawkReach Counseling Services at 918-444-2042 located at Leoser Complex. Faculty and staff members may contact the Employee Assistance Program at 1-888-628- 4824 or Human Resources at 918-444-2230.

<u>HawkReach Counseling Services</u> - Provides counseling to help students cope with problems stemming from alcohol or drug abuse by a family member(s) and friend(s). Student Counseling Services is available through Student Affairs.

<u>Residence Halls Staff</u> - Provide advice and referral for counseling.

<u>Alcohol and Other Drug Education Programs (AODEP)</u> - Student Affairs department of Outreach and Prevention coordinates AODEP. Campus-wide programs and customized group programs focused on effects of alcohol and other drug use/misuse are offered throughout the academic year to bring awareness, education, and outreach to the campus community.

It is the intent of Northeastern State University to expand current educational programs and services to decrease the risks to students resulting from alcohol and drug abuse. The following toll free, hotline numbers may be of use to someone needing help or advice.

- National Institution on Drug Abuse Information and Referral, 1-800-662-HELP, M-F, 8:30-4:30
- Safe & Drug-Free Schools, (850)245-0416
- National Council on Alcoholism, 1-800-622-4357, 7 days a week, 24 hours a day
- American Council for Drug Education, (646)505-2061
- Clearinghouse for Alcohol & Drug Information, (877)932-6301
- Cocaine Helpline, (800)662-4357
- Reach-Out Hotline, 1-800-522-9054 (alcohol, drug crisis intervention, mental health and referral)

Any questions regarding the rules, regulations, and policies set forth in this statement may be referred to Student Affairs or Human Resources.

Crime Prevention

In addition to our direct efforts at crime control through patrols and interaction with the community, we offer a number of programs to increase the safety of the campus community:

- Omnigo cellphone Application. Daily. The cellphone application is available for free download on
 the iPhone or Android phones. The cellphone application allows users to contact the University
 Police Department and transmits the caller's location and personal information that the user
 entered in the system. Users can contact the police department via voice or text and can send
 images or videos to the dispatcher. Text messages can be sent anonymously. The app also
 contains emergency procedures, a crime map, and a friend watch. More details about the app
 can be found at this link: https://offices.nsuok.edu/publicsafety/omnigo-security-campus-safety-app.aspx
- Operation ID. Daily. Bring your valuables by the police department and we will engrave a unique owner number on them. This aids in recovery if the items are lost or stolen.

- <u>Safety Escorts</u>. Daily. If you don't feel comfortable walking at night, you may call for an officer to escort you to your campus destination. There is free application for iPhone and Droid phones available to all students.
- Motorist Assistance. Daily. Our officers can assist with lock-outs and have battery packs for jump-starting your vehicle.
- <u>Bike/UTV Patrol</u>. Weather permitting. These patrol programs offer a greater interaction with the community. Don't hesitate to stop and chat with us.
- <u>Building Security</u>. Daily. Most academic buildings remain unlocked throughout the day and into the evening. Custodians are instructed to report any suspicious situations to the police immediately. University officers will often walk through buildings to enhance security.
- <u>Publications</u>. Daily. The University Police Department has various publications on public safety topics available.
- RAD- Rape Aggression Defense Classes. When requested. We offer, a self-defense course for women. The RAD system is offered to as few as five people at a time. Any group may request a class or attend one of our regularly scheduled classes.
- QPR- Suicide Prevention/Mental Health First Aid. When requested. The University Police will
 provide an instructor for classes to learn the Question, Persuade, Refer Suicide Prevention
 instruction to include all campus resources for those in need.
- <u>Public Speakers</u>. When requested. The Department of Public Safety will provide public speakers for various topics related to crime prevention and public safety including alcohol awareness, safe driving practices, theft prevention, sexual assault prevention, alcohol and drug addiction and consequences or any other topics related to the department.
- ALICE. When requested. ALiCE, which stands for Alert, Lockdown, Inform, Counter, Evacuate is a
 course taught by officers to non-police personnel to prepare them to participate in their own
 survival and help others to safety in a violent incident before help arrives. Students are taught to
 reporting methods, locking methods and barricading doors, countering methods, safe
 evacuation and how to recognize and report persons needing behavioral intervention.
- <u>Security Cameras</u>. Daily. Security cameras are placed strategically at each of our campuses to help deter crime and aid in investigations.

Personal Safety

The following general precautions and crime prevention tips provide guidance:

- Program the Northeastern State University Police Department's phone number in your cellphone (918-444-2468) and install the Omnigo app. Report any suspicious activity on campus to the Northeastern State University Police Department immediately.
- Never take safety for granted. Always be aware of your surroundings.
- Try to avoid walking alone at night. You may request a safety escort through the cellphone app or by calling the University Police Department at 918-444-2468.
- Limit your alcohol consumption and leave social functions that get too loud, crowded or have too many people drinking excessively or out of control. Call the University Police or the local police for help at the first sign of trouble.
- Use lighted walkways and thoroughfares, even if it means going out of the way.
- Carry only small amounts of cash and keep purses, backpacks and wallets close to your body.

- Do not struggle if someone tries to take your property.
- Never leave valuables (wallets, purses, books, calculators, laptops, etc.) unattended.
- Carry your keys at all times and do not lend them to anyone.
- Lock up bicycles, motorcycles and scooters. Lock your vehicle.
- Remember to lock the doors of your residence. Be certain that your door is locked to your
 residence when you go to sleep, and keep windows closed and locked when you are not at
 home. Do not allow others access to residence halls.
- Do not leave valuables in your car, especially in areas that are easily noticed.
- Engrave your driver's license number on items of value. The University Police Department will provide this service for free.
- Inventory your personal property and insure it appropriately with insurance coverage.
- Never prop open doors to residence halls or apartment buildings.
- Do not hide spare keys outside your room or apartment. Do not put your name or address on your key rings.
- Always check the area around your vehicle as you approach it and check in the rear seat for intruders before entering the vehicle.
- Never hitchhike and don't pick up hitchhikers.
- If your vehicle breaks down, call the police. Do not allow any person access to you or inside your vehicle. Be aware that an accident may be staged to provide another an opportunity to commit a criminal act.
- Be alert to your surroundings. If you suspect you are being followed call the police right away.

Security Escort Service

The University Police provides a safety escort service free of charge. Call 918-444-2468 or use the cellphone app to request a safety escort.

Violence Prevention and Educational Programming

Northeastern State University provides educational programming in regards to the prevention of domestic violence, dating violence stalking, and sexual violence. Northeastern State University prohibits the crimes of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking, as defined in the "Definitions" section. Northeastern State University further prohibits the crimes of domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking, as defined under Oklahoma law, set forth in the attached Appendix B. Northeastern State University will provide safe and positive options for bystander intervention that may be carried out by an individual to prevent harm or intervene when there is a risk of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking against a person other than such individual. More information on these issues and Northeastern State University's efforts to combat sexual violence, contact any of the individuals or departments listed below.

Name	Title	Contact Information
Dr. Sheila Self	Dean of Students 918.444.2120	
		selfsj@nsuok.edu
James Bell	Director of Public Safety, Chief	918.444.2468
	of Police	bell02@nsuok.edu

3E Campus Safety Learning Program

3E Campus Safety is a program to assist colleges nationwide with tackling this important topic by giving them the ability to Educate, Empower, and Enforce. Our top priority is helping institutions provide a safe environment that is conducive to learning and that students can thrive in. As a result of this commitment we have developed a proactive course which covers how to prevent, recognize, and report acts of sexual assault. 3E Campus Safety is a web-based platform that not only meets the objectives of the education component of the VAWA/Campus Save Act but also provides:

- Pre-post tests to demonstrate the effectiveness of the steps that your institution has taken.
- A backend completion verification method, which can be used for student accountability.
- Requires students to have proficient level of knowledge before allowing completion.

Curriculum follows the four principles (perceivable, operable, understandable, and robust) in order to best address the needs of the widest possible range of learners. Sexual assault is an issue that affects all people of every culture, nationality and orientation. 3E makes sure that the graphics and media used reflect the diversity of the population that it has been created for. 3E causes students to interact with the platform on average every 30-45 seconds, which helps increase the retention of information. Provides students the ability to learn anywhere, anytime with our flexible online learning platform. Perfect for orienting students about campus culture and expectation prior to start of the school year. 3E is the institution's primary prevention program. 3E covers topics such as sexual assault, consent, alcohol and drugs, bystander intervention, stalking, rape, intimate partner violence, sexual harassment, reporting, and the Title IX process. This program is completed by all incoming students, and new employees. Further, all NSU employees complete this program annually.

OneLove

The One Love Foundation was created in 2010 to honor the memory of Yeardley Love, a University of Virginia senior who was killed by her ex-boyfriend just weeks before graduation. After her death, Yeardley's family and friends were surprised to learn that 1 in 3 women and 1 in 4 men in the U.S. will experience intimate partner violence in their lifetime. It is with this understanding that One Love seeks to get to the root cause of this issue by teaching people how to treat one another in healthier ways. Sharon Love and Lexie Love, Yeardley's mother and sister, set out to create powerful content that starts the conversation about healthy and unhealthy relationships with the hope that it will ultimately end relationship violence. The One Love Foundation strives to achieve this goal by educating, empowering and activating young people in a movement for social change.

- The **Escalation Workshop** is the core product and is a film-based experience that educates about the warning signs of an abusive relationship. Utilizing peer-facilitators trained by One Love staff, Escalation provides young people with the framework they need to identify the warning signs and the tools to help a friend who may be in an abusive situation. To date, 209,837 students have participated in the Escalation workshop. This workshop is recommended for ages 14-30.
- #ThatsNotLove is a series of short, shareable digital content in four unique chapters (Behind the Post, Because I Love You, Couplets, Love Labyrinth) that seeks to define the gray area between love and control. Behind the Post (ages 14-30) focuses on social media and how it can skew our view of the relationships around us and, in some cases, influence our decisions to stay in

unhealthy ones. Their guide to 10 signs of an unhealthy relationship explore the signs of an unhealthy relationship and encourages young people to start a conversation with their friends. The series, *Because I Love You* (ages 14-30), is focused on how the phrase "Because I love you," can be used to manipulate someone in an abusive relationship. To help people with this conversation, One Love created a guide complete with questions and answers to help someone talk about controlling statements and other unhealthy relationship behaviors. Love Labyrinth (ages 14-30) focuses on how feeling trapped in a Love Labyrinth is a very real and very frightening symptom of relationship abuse. Even the tiniest of behaviors from your partner can impact your self-esteem, independence and ability to recognize the relationship you deserve. The Couplets series (ages 11-13) consists of eight short clips that show both the healthy and unhealthy version of a situation. The discussion guide for these videos also includes a lesson plan with discussion questions and classroom activity ideas.

Bystander Intervention

Northeastern State University recognizes the positive impact a bystander may have when stepping in to prevent a risky situation and thus promotes the development of active bystanders. By being an active bystander, one can provide a positive social support system. Bystanders can intervene before, during, or after an act of violence has taken place. There are effective and safe measures an individual can take in order to prevent a risky situation from escalating, while at the same time keeping out of harm's way.

In order to intervene, a bystander has to:

- 1. Notice the incident. Bystanders first must notice the incident taking place. It's important to become attune to what situations may be risky; (e.g. if you're at a party, and you see someone stumbling as they're being led into a different room, this is a risky situation.)
- 2. Interpret the incident as emergency. By "emergency," we mean a situation wherein there is risk of sexual or domestic violence occurring in the near future.
- 3. Assume responsibility for intervening. It has been found that often, people believe that someone else will help in a situation where there are many people around. However, it is important to realize that others may also be thinking the same thing. If you're unsure if you should do something, ask a friend what they think -- it might be the case that they've been thinking the same thing.
- 4. Have the bystander intervention skills to help. At any time, a bystander fears for their safety and the safety of others they may call University Police 918-444-2468.

Ongoing prevention and awareness campaigns: The University will host events, programs, and training throughout the year to educate the campus and community about avoidance of discriminatory practices, sexual misconduct and sexual harassment. Primary focus months are October (Domestic Violence Awareness Month), January (Stalking Awareness Month), and April (Sexual Assault Awareness Month).

At various times throughout each semester, to engage the student body, Student Affairs staff hosts a tabling event, where students can stop by, learn about the specific topic being discussed that day and receive resource products. Some topics from 2023 include: drug education, healthy relationships, stalking awareness, and consent. Topics that involve consent education focus on the definition as well

as examples of how to get consent from a partner, what consent looks and sounds like, and when consent cannot legally be given. Below is the definition of consent:

The term "consent" means the affirmative, unambiguous and voluntary agreement to engage in a specific sexual activity during a sexual encounter which can be revoked at any time. Consent cannot be: 1. Given by an individual who: a. is asleep or is mentally or physically incapacitated either through the effect of drugs or alcohol or for any other reason, or b. is under duress, threat, coercion or force; or 2. Inferred under circumstances in which consent is not clear including, but not limited to: a. the absence of an individual saying "no" or "stop", or b. the existence of a prior or current relationship or sexual activity. Title 21, Okla. Stat. § 113

Additionally, the Title IX office, the Office of Student Conduct and Development, and HawkReach student advocate, provides education on sexual violence prevention to any group of students, faculty or staff upon request. Topics include, but are not limited to, consent, sexual assault, sexual harassment, the conduct process for sexual misconduct, how to support a victim, bystander intervention, prevention strategies, and resources available for victims.

Sexual Violence

All forms of sexual violence should be reported, no matter the severity. Northeastern State University's primary concern is safety; therefore, individuals should not be deterred in reporting even if the use of alcohol or other drugs was involved. Northeastern State University offers both confidential reporting and non-confidential reporting options. It is important to be aware that different individuals who victims can contact for assistance following an incident may have different responsibilities regarding confidentiality, depending upon their position. Under state law, some individuals can assure the victim of confidentiality, including counselors and certified victims' advocates. In general, however, any other institution employee cannot guarantee complete confidentiality, unless specifically provided by law.

Type of Report	Office/Individual	Contact Information	
Confidential, On-Campus	Chelsea Hill	918.444.2042	
	Student Advocate, HawkReach hillc@nsuok.edu		
Confidential, On-Campus	HawkReach Counseling Services	918.444.2042	
		hawkreach@nsuok.edu	
Confidential, On-Campus	NEO Health Services	918.444.2126	
Non-confidential, On-	Student Affairs	918.444.2120	
Campus		studentaffairs@nsuok.edu	
Confidential, Off-Campus	CREOKS Behavioral Health	918.207.0078 (24 hours)	
	Services		
Confidential, Off-Campus	Help In Crisis (Domestic Violence)	918.456.0673	
Confidential, Off-Campus	Crisis Line for Domestic Violence	888.372.9400	
	and Sexual Assault- Broken Arrow		
Confidential, Off-Campus	VA Muskogee (Veterans Services)	800.827.1000	

Confidential, Off-Campus	WISH (Women in Safe Homes, 918.682.7879 Muskogee)		
Non-confidential reporting	NSU Police Department- all 918.444.2468 university police@nsuok		
Non-confidential reporting	Tahlequah Police Department	918.456.8801	
Non-confidential reporting	Broken Arrow Police Department	918.251.5311	
Non-confidential reporting	Muskogee Police Department	918.683.8000	
Non-confidential reporting	ing Cherokee County Sheriff's Office 918.456.2583		
Non-confidential reporting	Wagoner County Sheriff's Office	County Sheriff's Office 918.485.3124	
Non-confidential reporting	Muskogee County Sherriff's Office	918.687.0202	

The Board of Regents for the Regional University System of Oklahoma and the Clery Act require all other employees (excluding counselors and student advocate) who become aware of an instance of sexual violence or harassment to report it to the Northeastern State University Police Department 918-444-2468 or the Title IX Coordinator 918-444-2120. The report should include the nature, date, time, and general location of an incident. All NSU employees are responsible employees. A responsible employee is an employee who has the authority to address sexual violence, who has the duty to report incidents of sexual violence or other student misconduct, or who a student could reasonably believe has this authority or duty. When a victim tells a responsible employee about an incident of sexual violence, the victim has the right to expect the institution will investigate the alleged sexual violence, end any sexual violence, prevent the sexual violence from re-occurring, and educate on sexual violence. Before a victim reveals any information to a responsible employee, the employee should ensure that the victim understands the employee's reporting obligations and if the victim wants to remain confidential, then the student should be directed to a confidential resource.

Victim Information

If you are a victim of sexual violence, you are not alone and you are in no way responsible for your assault. If you are not safe and need immediate help, call the police. No matter where the incident occurred, you may call the Northeastern State University Police, 918-444-2468 for assistance.

Do what you need to do to feel safe.

- Go to a safe place or contact someone with whom you are comfortable. You can call the Oklahoma Rape Crisis hotline at 1-800-522-7233 to get advice and discuss options for how to proceed.
- Do not shower, bathe, douche, change or destroy clothes, eat, drink, smoke, chew gum, take
 any medications or straighten the room of place of incident. Preserving evidence is critical for
 criminal prosecution. Although you may not want to prosecute immediately after the incident,
 you may want to in the future. The evidence collected can also be useful in the campus conduct
 process.

- Go to the nearest medical facility to receive care for any physical injuries that may have occurred. On-campus, the Student Health Center is located at the Fitness Center. While in the emergency room or other treatment facility, treatment will be provided for sexually transmitted diseases and to prevent pregnancy. Northeastern State University Health Services and local hospitals have access to Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner. Upon arrival at the medical facility, you will be taken to a private exam area. The nurse, advocate, and police officer will be directed to this same location. You will be examined to treat any injuries and gather evidence.
- You are not required to make a police report, and you will not be charged for the examination or treatment related to the incident.
- A victim's advocate will support you throughout the entire exam, which will be performed by the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner. The advocate will provide a packet of written materials that contains information about common reactions to rape, follow-up medical needs, and support services.

On and Off Campus Resources

The University will provide written notification to students and employees about resources such as counseling, health, mental health, victim advocacy, legal assistance, visa and immigration assistance, student financial aid, and other services available for victims (both within the institution and in the community). Victims will be provided written notification about options for available assistance with, and how to request changes to:

- Academic situations
- Living situations
- Transportation issues
- Work environments/schedules
- Protective measures

Medical Services

It is important to have a thorough medical exam after a sexual assault even if you do not have any apparent physical injuries. Medical providers can treat any injuries and provide tests for sexually transmitted diseases. They are not required to report any information about an incident to the Title IX Coordinator without the victim's permission. However, they will report the number of incidents without any identifiable information for the purposes of the Clery Act. While these professional counselors, non-professional counselors (those who act under the supervision of a licensed counselor), advocate, and health providers may maintain a victim's confidentiality, they may have reporting or other obligation under state law, such as mandatory reporting to law enforcement in the case of minors, imminent harm to self or others, or requirement to testify if subpoenaed in a criminal case.

Provider	Location	Contact Information
NEO Health Services- Tahlequah	529 N. Oak Ave	918.444.2126
Campus	Tahlequah, OK 74464	
NEO Health Services- Muskogee	gee 1328 S. York Street 918.683.0470	
Campus	Muskogee, OK 74403	
Cherokee Nation W W Hastings	stings 100 Bliss Ave 918.458.3100	
Hospital- Tahlequah Campus	Tahlequah, OK 74464	

Interim Measures

The Director of Student Conduct and Development can put in place interim measures for student victims of sexual violence as needed. A formal complaint does not need to be submitted to have interim measures put in place. Northeastern State University will maintain as confidential any interim measures provided as long as it does not impair the ability to provide the interim measures. If you are in need of one or more of these interim measures, please contact the Student Advocate at 918-444-2042.

- Assistance in Reporting: Student Affairs can assist you in filing a complaint with the institution conduct process and the appropriate law enforcement agencies against the student(s) who caused harm.
- <u>No Contact Order</u>: Student Affairs can put in place a No Contact Order between the complainant and the respondent, which would prohibit contact between parties through any means of communication, as well as not having others make contact on their behalf.
- <u>Emergency Protective Order</u>: The University Police Department, the Student Advocate or Student Affairs professional can assist you in filing for an Emergency Protective Order. This is a court- ordered petition that prohibits contact between the complainant and respondent.
 Violations of a Protective Order are an arrestable offense.
- <u>Safety Measures</u>: Student Affairs or Student Advocate can coordinate any reasonable arrangements that are necessary for your ongoing safety. This includes transportation arrangements or providing an escort.
- <u>Living Arrangements</u>: Student Affairs or the Student Advocate can assist in changing your oncampus living arrangements or that of the accused to ensure the safety and comfortable living situation.
- <u>Academic Arrangements</u>: Student Affairs can assist in adjusting your academic schedule or that of the accused as well as assist in providing access to academic support services
- Other Interim Measures: Student Affairs can coordinate any reasonable arrangements to address the effects of the sexual violence on you, including connecting you with counseling, health care or academic support resources.

Disciplinary Proceedings

Anyone can report instances of sexual harassment and sexual violence, as well as other crimes or violations of the Student Handbook. A complaint should be filed as soon as possible, preferably within 180 calendar days of the incident. Any individual who has experienced, witnessed, or knows about discrimination on the basis of sex is encouraged to seek help and report the incident. Incidents or complaints may be reported online, or by contacting the Title IX Coordinator, or contacting one of the central reporting offices listed. Northeastern State University has procedures for institutional disciplinary action in cases of alleged domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, and the proceedings shall be conducted by officials who receive annual training on the issues related to domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking and how to conduct an investigation and hearing process that protects the safety of victims and promotes accountability.

A complaint can be filed by contacting:

Individual/Office	Title	Location	Contact Information
Joshua Rader	Director of Student	711 N. Grand Ave	918.444.2260
	Conduct &	Tahlequah, OK 74464	conduct@nsuok.edu
	Development		
Jamie Hall	Title IX and	601 N. Grand Ave	918.444.2120
	Compliance	Admin. Bldg. 218	titleix@nsuok.edu
	Coordinator	Tahlequah, OK 74463	
Jean Logue	Director, Human	601 N. Grand Ave	918.444.2230
	Resources	Admin. Bldg. Suite 115	humanresources@nsuok.edu
		Tahlequah, OK 74464	

Student Rights in the Conduct Process

Accused Students Have the Right to:

- A. A written notice of the alleged violation(s) sent to the student's official university address (electronic or physical);
- B. Waive written notice of the alleged violations;
- C. Reasonable access to the review of the contents of the individual case file;
- D. Have no student rule violation assumed until proven through the student conduct process;
- E. Say nothing with the knowledge and understanding that no assumption of responsibility is made solely as a result;
- F. Be accompanied by one advisor/counselor (may be an attorney at the student's expense) so long as the availability of the advisor does not hamper the timeliness of the conference. The selected advisor and/or counselor may not be an individual and/or student that is and/or may be charged as a result of the same or similar fact pattern. The advisor is limited to advising the student and may not present the case, question relevant parties, or make statements during the proceedings. The mere presence of a University attorney does not indicate representation;
- G. Question his/her accuser directly or indirectly at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator or Student Conduct Administration body;
- H. Question witnesses either directly or indirectly at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator or Student Conduct Administration body;
- I. Present material witnesses those with firsthand knowledge of the incident (character witness information may only be submitted in written form);
- J. Written notification of the outcome of the student conduct conference sent to the student's official university address (electronic or physical) - such information may not be shared with any individual or entity;
- K. Have an avenue to appeal the decision of the Student Conduct Administrator of Student Conduct Administration body.

Alleged Victim of Sexual Misconduct or Crimes of Violence

Northeastern State University students who are the alleged victim of sexual misconduct or a crime of violence have the right to:

- A. Be given an explanation of the student conduct process;
- B. Have access to evidentiary material the complainant or alleged victim submitted this includes police reports;
- C. Choose to be present or not present during the student conduct conference in person or through an indirect means - the mere presence does not imply a forced participation in the conduct proceedings;
- D. Be accompanied by one advisor/counselor (may be an attorney at the student's expense) so long as the availability of the advisor does not hamper the timeliness of the conference. The selected advisor and/or counselor may not be an individual and/or student that is and/or may be charged as a result of the same or similar fact pattern. The advisor is limited to advising the student and may not present the case, question relevant parties, or make statements during the proceedings. The mere presence of a University attorney does not indicate representation
- E. Question the accused/material witnesses directly or indirectly at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator of Student Conduct Administration body;
- F. Have evidence of past sexual history excluded during the student conduct conference, the past sexual history of the alleged victim with persons other than the alleged perpetrator shall be presumed irrelevant relevancy is at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator of Student Conduct Administration body;
- G. Submit a victim impact statement for the Student Conduct Administrator of Student Conduct Administration body to consider only if the student is found responsible prior to issuing any sanction(s);
- H. Upon written request, be notified of the outcome of the conduct proceeding if the request is granted such information may not be shared with any individual or entity.
- I. If the conduct code violation alleged arises from an allegation of dating violence, stalking, domestic violence or sexual assault, a written notice will be sent to the accuser and accused of the outcome of the proceedings, the procedures for an appeal by the accuser or the accused, any changes as the result of an appeal and when such results are final
- J. If the alleged victim is deceased as a result of such crime or offense, the next of kin of the victim shall be treated as the alleged victim for purposes of disclosure under this policy.

Conduct Process

Preamble Northeastern State University's Student Conduct Code is designed to set forth standards necessary to provide a learning environment conducive to the preparation of students for success in an increasingly challenging, diverse and global society. The University is, first and foremost, a community where the academic standards are strictly upheld and where the rights, responsibilities, safety, and dignity of every individual are respected and paramount to the achievement of academic excellence. Students are expected to actively participate in class as deemed appropriate by the course faculty member. Students should promote a positive learning environment by arriving to class on time, removing any personal distractions (i.e., personal cell phones or data devices) and being prepared for class. Students should be respectful to each other and to the person facilitating the course (faculty member, course instructor, guest speaker, fellow student presenter, etc.).

The Student Conduct Code serves not just as a disciplinary system but also as a part of the educational process. The student conduct process is administrative in nature and is separate from any civil or criminal processes. The purpose of the Student Conduct Code is to teach students to live and act

responsibly in a community setting and to encourage the development of good decision-making and personal integrity. University community members are expected to respect the rights of fellow community members, property, common resources, Student Conduct Code, and laws associated with the broader community (e.g., city, state, nation and world).

Any potential Student Conduct Code violation, including academic misconduct, may be submitted to the Office of Student Conduct and Development; all reports should be made as soon as possible after the incident takes place or after becoming aware of the incident. Incident Reports may be submitted online, in person (Tahlequah, Admin 209) or by fax 918-458-2340.

In order to encourage reporting, NSU practices limited immunity for students who are attempting to assist other individual(s) during a medical emergency, who are seeking help for themselves, or who are reporting a sexual misconduct offense. The fear of "getting in trouble" should not be a deterrent to reporting.

Article I: Definitions

- A. University The term "University" means Northeastern State University.
- B. Student The term "student" includes all persons enrolled at the university, both full-time and part-time, pursuing undergraduate, graduate, or professional studies. Persons who are not officially enrolled for a particular term, but who have a relationship with the university, are considered "students." This definition includes, but is not limited to, incoming freshmen, transfer students, anyone participating in university sponsored programs and activities for students, and persons who enroll for courses from time to time, and participants in third-party programs. (RUSSO 4.4.3).
- C. University Official For the purpose of this document, the term "University official" includes any person employed by the University, performing assigned academic, administrative or professional responsibilities.
- D. Member of the University Community or University Community includes any person, group, or organization, be they a student, employee of the University, or any other person directly affiliated with the University. A person's status in a particular situation shall be determined by the VPSA or his/her designee.
- E. University Premises The term "University premises" includes all land, buildings, facilities and other property in the possession of or owned, used or controlled by the University (including adjacent streets and sidewalks).
- F. Organization The term "organization" means any number of persons who have complied with the formal requirements for University recognition. It may also include groups who have not complied with formal requirements.
- G. Vice President of Student Affairs (VPSA) or his/her designee The term VPSA means the person designated by the University President to be responsible for the administration of the Student Conduct Code.
- H. Student Conduct Administrator(s) The term "Student Conduct Administrator(s)" means a University official authorized, on a case-by-case basis by the VPSA or his/her designee, to determine whether student(s) have violated the Student Conduct Code. The VPSA or his/her designee may authorize the same Student Conduct Administrator to impose sanctions in all cases.

- Appeal's Administrator(s) The term "Appeal's Administrator(s)" means any person or persons authorized by the VPSA or his/her designee to consider an appeal from a Student Conduct Conference.
- J. Student Conduct Conference The term "Student Conduct Conference" means a meeting between Student Conduct Administrator(s) and student(s) who potentially violated the Student Conduct Code.
- K. Student Conduct Appeals Committee The term "Student Conduct Appeals Committee" is a committee consisting of faculty, staff and students created to consider an appeal in cases resulting in suspension, expulsion, degree revocation or rescission of credit of students.
- L. Policy The term "policy" means the written regulations of the University as found in, but not limited to, the Student Conduct Code, Residence Life Handbook, the University webpage and computer and network use policy, and Graduate/Undergraduate Academic Catalogs. M.
- M. Cheating The term "cheating" includes, but is not limited to:
 - a. use of any unauthorized assistance in taking quizzes, tests or examinations;
 - b. use of sources beyond those authorized by the instructor in writing papers, preparing reports, solving problems, or carrying out other assignments;
 - c. the acquisition, without permission, of tests or other academic material belonging to a member of the University faculty or staff; or
 - d. engaging in any behavior specifically prohibited by a faculty member in the course syllabus or class discussion.
- N. Plagiarism The term "plagiarism" includes, but is not limited to, the use, by paraphrase or direct quotation, of the published or unpublished work of another person without full and clear acknowledgment. It also includes the unacknowledged use of materials prepared by another person or agency engaged in the selling of term papers or other academic materials.
- O. University Affiliated/Sponsored The term "University Affiliated/Sponsored" means any activity on or off-campus that is initiated, aided, authorized or supervised by the University or by a recognized student organization of the University.
- P. Individual The term "Individual" includes any student, employee, resident, or guest of the University.
- Q. Complainant The term "Complainant" includes any individual or organization who claims to have been the victim of a crime or violation by another student and/or organization.
- R. Respondent The term "Respondent" includes any student(s) or organization accused of violating the Student Conduct Code or other policy. The president or designee(s) of the respondent organization shall be the primary point of contact for communication with Student Affairs throughout and following the conclusion of conduct proceedings.
- S. Academic Integrity Academic Integrity is the understanding and respect for scholarship through learning and teaching. As defined by the University's core value of integrity, "we model ethical and intellectual development by advancing honesty, human dignity and accountability."

Article II: Student Code Authority

- A. The Student Conduct Administrator shall:
 - a. coordinate investigations, as deemed necessary
 - b. determine if a potential Student Conduct Code violation has occurred;
 - c. impose sanctions, if necessary; and/or

- d. refer appeals to the Vice President of Student Affairs (VPSA) or his/her designee.
- B. The VPSA or his/her designee shall develop policies for the administration of the student conduct system and procedural guidelines of Student Conduct conference(s).
- C. Decisions made by Student Conduct Administrator(s) shall be effective immediately.

Article III: Proscribed Conduct

- A. Jurisdiction of the University Student Conduct Code
 - a. The University Student Conduct Code shall apply to conduct that occurs on University premises (including online), at University Affiliated/Sponsored activities, and off-campus (including online) conduct that adversely affects the University Community and/or member(s), the pursuit of its objectives, and/or as required by law.
 - b. Each student shall be responsible for his/her conduct from the time of initial enrollment through the actual awarding of a degree, even though conduct may occur before classes begin or after classes end, as well as during the academic year and during periods between terms of actual enrollment, and even if their conduct is not discovered until after a degree is awarded.
 - c. The Student Conduct Code shall apply to a student's conduct even if the student withdraws from school while a disciplinary matter is pending.
 - d. The VPSA or his/her designee shall decide whether the Student Conduct Code shall be applied to conduct occurring off-campus, on a case-by-case basis, in his/her sole discretion.
- B. Conduct—Rules and Regulations

Any student found to have committed or to have attempted to commit the following misconduct is subject to the disciplinary sanctions outlined in Article IV.

- a. Acts of dishonesty (RUSO Student Policy 4.4.3 Students' Obligations and Regulations) Acts of dishonesty may include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - i. Cheating, plagiarism or other forms of academic dishonesty.
 - ii. Furnishing false information to any University official, faculty member or office.
 - iii. Assuming an identity other than your own.
 - iv. Forgery, alteration or misuse of any University document, record or instrument of identification.
 - v. Falsifying or participating in the falsification of any University record. Any other act of dishonesty which adversely affects the University or the pursuit of its objectives.
 - vi. Assuming the identity of another.
 - vii. Unauthorized possession of examinations or other course materials.
 - viii. Academic Misconduct.
 - ix. Any other act of dishonesty which adversely affects the University or the pursuit of its objectives.
- Disruption or Obstruction Disruption or obstruction of teaching, administration, disciplinary proceedings, other University activities, including its public service functions on or off-campus, or of other authorized non-university activities when the conduct occurs on University premises.

- c. Abuse Physical abuse, verbal abuse, threats, intimidation, dating violence, domestic violence, coercion and/or other conduct which threatens or endangers the health or safety of any person. Methods of abuse may include, but are not limited to physical, verbal, written, electronic and/or visual displays. Abuse can include but is not limited to the following:
 - i. Assault: An intentional act or acts, that has caused, is intended to cause, or is perceived by the victim to cause bodily harm.
 - ii. Harassment: Conduct that is sufficiently severe and/or pervasive and that adversely affects or interferes with the educational program and/or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive environment within the University community. Forms of harassment may include, but are not limited to, physical, mental, sexual, racial, ethnic, national origin, religion, or sexual orientation. University policy "Gender-Based and Sexual Misconduct Discrimination" may be used.
 - iii. Hazing: Any act which endangers the mental or physical health or safety of an individual for the purposes of initiation, admission into, affiliation with or as a condition for continued membership in a group or organization. The express or implied consent of the victim will not be a defense. Apathy or acquiescence in the presence of hazing is not considered a neutral act; they are violations of this rule. (See Hazing on page 54 for more information.)
 - iv. Heckling: Oppositional behaviors that badger, embarrass, harass, disempower, or challenge people or processes in a manner that undermines their integrity.
 - v. Bullying: Repeated behavior by a group or individual that is intended to harm, intimidate, offend, degrade or humiliate another person, possibly in front of others.
 - vi. Stalking: Willfully, maliciously and/or repeatedly following or harassing another person in a manner that would cause a reasonable person to feel frightened, intimidated, threatened or harassed. Refer to University policy "Gender-Based and Sexual Misconduct Discrimination".
 - vii. Sexual Misconduct: Sexual Misconduct includes, but is not limited to, unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature that expressly or implicitly imposes conditions upon, threatens, interferes with or creates an intimidating, hostile, or demeaning environment for an individual's:
 - 1. academic pursuits
 - 2. University employment
 - 3. participation in activities sponsored by the University or organizations or groups related to the University, or
 - 4. opportunities to benefit from other aspects of University life, including but not limited to on-campus residence.
 - 5. Theft and/or Damage Includes the unauthorized use or removal or damage of University, community, or other personal or public property.
- d. Failure to Comply Failure to comply with reasonable requests or directions of University officials or law enforcement officers acting in performance of their duties.

- e. Identification You are required to carry your NSU I.D. card while on University property or at University sponsored events and activities (including recognized student organization events). An I.D. may not be used by any person other than the person to whom it was issued. I.D. cards being used by someone other than the card owner will be confiscated by University officials. Students are required to present their I.D. upon request of any University employee. If an I.D. card becomes missing, it is the responsibility of the card owner to promptly report the card lost or stolen to University police or I.D. services. Students should not deface, alter, or use IDs for anything other than their intended purpose.
- f. Unauthorized Entry Includes entry to or use of University-controlled property, including locations situated off-campus, without permission. Unauthorized entry also includes, but is not limited to, unauthorized possession, duplication or use of keys (or any other such devices) to access University premises.
- g. Controlled Substances The use, consumption, possession, manufacturing, distribution and/or being under the influence of any controlled substances except as expressly permitted by law and/or University policy is prohibited. Possession of drug paraphernalia and the inappropriate use or abuse of prescription or over-the-counter medications is also prohibited.
- h. Alcohol The use, possession, manufacturing, distribution and/or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages except as expressly permitted by law and/or University policy is prohibited. This includes, but is not limited to, having alcohol or being under the influence of alcohol in the residence halls. Being under the influence includes, but is not limited to: acting noticeably out of character, impaired motor skills, or otherwise disorderly or belligerent conduct. Possession of alcohol paraphernalia (including, but not limited to, empty alcohol containers or decorated alcohol containers) is not permitted in the residence halls.
- i. Firearms and Weapons The use, possession and/or distribution of firearms, explosives, other weapons, imitation of weapons or dangerous chemicals on University premises is prohibited except as expressly permitted by law and/or University policy. This includes, but is not limited to, bows, knives, lasers or laser sights, guns, water guns, paintball guns or air-soft weapons.
- j. Disturbing the Peace Disturbing the peace includes, but is not limited to, participating in an on- campus or off-campus demonstration, riot or activity that disrupts the normal operations of the University and/or infringes on the rights of other members of the University community; and/or leading or inciting others to disrupt scheduled and/or normal activities within any campus building or area.
- Traffic Obstruction Traffic obstruction includes, but is not limited to, obstruction of the free flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic on University premises or at Universitysponsored or supervised functions.
- Disorderly Conduct Conduct that is disruptive, lewd or indecent, a breach of peace, or which aids, abets, or encourages another person to breach the peace on University premises or at functions sponsored by, or participated in by, the University or members of the University community.

- m. Technology Theft and/or Abuse (RUSO Student Policy 4.4.3d) Technology theft or other abuse of computer facilities and resources includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - i. unauthorized entry into, transfer of or use of a file;
 - ii. use of another individual's identification and/or password or allowing the use of yours;
 - iii. use of computing facilities and resources to interfere with the work of another student, faculty member or University Official;
 - iv. use of computing facilities and resources to send obscene or abusive messages;
 - v. use of computing facilities and resources to interfere with normal operation of the University computing system;
 - vi. use of computing facilities and resources in violation of copyright laws;
 - vii. attempts to circumvent established security procedures or to obtain access privileges to which the user is not entitled;
 - viii. any violation of University policy on Computer and Network Use;
 - ix. use of computing facilities to willfully publish, distribute, or exhibit any obscene expression.
- n. Abuse of Student Conduct, Academic, and/or Administrative Process(es) Abuse of the Student Conduct, Academic, and/or Administrative Process(es) includes, but is not limited to:
 - failure to obey the notice from a Student Conduct Administrator(s) or University official(s) to appear for a meeting or conference as part of the Student Conduct Process:
 - ii. falsification, distortion or misrepresentation of information before a Student Conduct Administrator(s) or University Official(s);
 - iii. attempting to discourage an individual's proper participation in, or use of, any student conduct, academic, or administrative process;
 - iv. attempting to influence the impartiality of a Student Conduct Administrator(s) or University Official prior to and/or during the course of the Student Conduct meeting or conference or other Academic or Administrative process;
 - v. harassment (verbal or physical) and/or intimidation of Student Conduct Administrator(s) or University Official(s) prior to, during and/or after a student conduct meeting or conference or other Academic or Administrative process;
 - vi. failure to comply with the sanction(s) imposed under the Student Conduct Code;
 - vii. influencing or attempting to influence another person to commit an abuse of the student conduct, academic, and/or administrative process;
 - viii. retaliation: A direct or indirect action taken against a person or organization as a response to their involvement in the conduct, academic, and/or administrative process.
- o. Passive Participation Passive participation includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - encouraging or enticing any behavior or activity prohibited by law and/or University policy;

- ii. knowingly witnessing or observing any behavior or activity expressly prohibited by law and/or University policy.
- p. Violation of any University Policy Violation of University Policy shall include any University policy, rule or regulation published in hard copy or available electronically on the University website (i.e., residence hall policies, NCAA policies).
- q. Violation of Law Violation of Law shall include violation(s) of any federal, state or local

C. Concurrent Law and University Policy Violations

- a. A University conduct meeting or conference may be held with a student whose actions potentially violate both criminal law and the Student Conduct Code. The Student Conduct process is separate from, and may disregard the civil or criminal litigation proceedings. Meetings or conferences under the Student Conduct Code may be carried out prior to, simultaneously with or following civil or criminal proceedings off-campus at the discretion of the VPSA or his/her designee. Determinations made or sanctions imposed under the Student Conduct Code shall not be subject to change due to criminal charge dismissal, reduction, or resolution in favor of or against the criminal law defendant.
- b. When a student is charged by federal, state or local authorities with a violation of law, and if the alleged offense is also being processed under the Student Conduct Code, the University may advise off-campus authorities of the existence of the Student Conduct Code and of how such matters are typically handled within the University community. The University will attempt to cooperate with law enforcement and other agencies in the enforcement of criminal law on-campus and in the conditions imposed by criminal courts for the rehabilitation of student violators (provided that the conditions do not conflict with campus rules or sanctions). Individual students and other members of the University community, acting in their personal capacities, remain free to interact with governmental representatives as they deem appropriate.

Article IV: Student Conduct Code Procedures

A. Administrative Summons

a. An Administrative Summons may be issued by the administrative officers of the University and is to be honored by students duly enrolled. Failure to answer the summons could result in immediate temporary suspension from the University until the issue is resolved.

B. Submitting Reports/Allegations

- a. Any member of the University community may submit a report of a potential Student Conduct Code violation. A report shall be prepared in writing and directed to Student Affairs, University Police or Residence Life. Any report should be submitted as soon as possible after the event takes place.
- b. A submitted report will be reviewed to determine merit, need for further investigation, appropriate referral if necessary and/or dismissal.

C. Notifications of Allegations/Conduct Conferences

a. All allegations shall be presented to the Respondent(s) in written form. A time shall be set for a Student Conduct Conference, not less than three University business days from

- the issue date of the letter. The Respondent may choose to waive the three University business day requirements. Scheduling of the Student Conduct Conferences may be extended at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator(s).
- b. All allegations and time/location of the Student Conduct Conference shall be presented to the Complainant(s), in cases of a Title IX allegation or act(s) of violence, simultaneously, and in writing, with the written notification to the Respondent(s).
- D. Interim Safety or Preventative Measures: Interim Measures may be appropriate for respondent and/or complainant pending the outcome of a student conduct conference, University Investigation, or other administrative process. Interim Measures may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Temporary Suspension (RUSO Student Policies, Penalties 4.4.5)
 - i. Temporary suspension may be imposed only:
 - 1. to ensure the safety and well-being of members of the University community or preservation of University property;
 - 2. to ensure the student's own physical or emotional safety and well-being; and/or
 - 3. if the student poses an ongoing threat of disruption of, or interference with, the normal operations of the University.
 - ii. During the temporary suspension, a student may be denied access to the residence halls and/or to the campus (including classes) and/or all other University activities or privileges for which the student might otherwise be eligible, as the VPSA or his/her designee may determine to be appropriate.
 - iii. The temporary suspension does not replace the regular process, which shall proceed on the normal schedule, up to and through a Student Conduct Conference, if required.
 - iv. The student shall be notified in writing of this action and the reasons for the temporary suspension. The notice will include an option for a subsequent show cause meeting at which the student may show cause why his or her continued presence on the campus does not constitute a threat during the interim of an investigation and student conduct conference.
 - b. Alteration in Living Arrangements: This may include a student being relocated to a different room within the same building, a different room in a different building, or removing a student from University housing altogether.
 - c. Class Change/Academic arrangement: This interim measure may involve, but is not limited to, a change in class section, location, delivery modality, or other appropriate accommodation.
 - d. No Contact Order: Any and all communications between two or more parties may be imposed in order to establish and maintain the safety of the campus community and its individuals.
 - e. Loss of Privilege: Loss of privileges is denial of specified privileges for a designated (consecutive) period of time.
 - f. Restricted Access: May include restricting entry to, or use of, University controlled property including locations situated off-campus.

- g. Change of Student Employment: This interim measure may involve, but is not limited to, a change in student work location, hours, duties, or other appropriate accommodation.
- h. Escort Arrangements: In circumstances where an escort to and/or from classes, meetings, or other University functions may be arranged as long as doing so does not put undue burden on University resources.

E. Student Conduct Conferences

Student Conduct Conferences may be conducted by a Student Conduct Administrator (or designee) and/or a conduct panel according to the following guidelines:

- a. Student Conduct Conferences shall be conducted in private.
- b. During a Student Conduct Conference involving more than one Respondent, the Student Conduct Administrator(s), at his or her discretion, may permit the Student Conduct Conference concerning each student to be conducted either separately or jointly.
- c. The Respondent (and Complainant in a Title IX or act of violence case) may be accompanied by one adviser each (may be an attorney at the student's expense) so long as the availability of the adviser does not hamper the timeliness of the conference. The selected adviser and/or counselor may not be an individual and/or student that is and/or may be charged as a result of the same incident. The adviser is limited to advising the student and may not present the case, question relevant parties, or make statements during the proceedings. The mere presence of a University attorney does not indicate representation.
- d. The Respondent(s) and their adviser, if any, shall be allowed to attend the entire portion of the Student Conduct Conference at which information is received (excluding deliberations). Admission of any other person to the Student Conduct Conference shall be at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator(s).
- e. The Respondent, Complainant, and/or the Student Conduct Administrator(s) may arrange for witnesses to present pertinent information to the Student Conduct Administrator(s). Witnesses will provide information to and answer questions from the Student Conduct Administrator(s). Questions may be suggested by the Respondent and/or Complainant to be answered by other witnesses. These questions shall be directed to the Student Conduct Administrator(s) rather than to the witness directly. Questions of whether potential information will be received shall be resolved at the discretion of the Student Conduct Administrator(s).
- f. Relevant records, exhibits, and written statements (including Student Impact Statements) may be accepted as information for consideration.
- g. The Student Conduct Administrator(s), at his or her discretion, may stop a Student Conduct Conference to evaluate new information obtained during a Student Conduct Conference and reevaluate the accusations (add or eliminate) against the respondent.
- h. The Student Conduct Administrator(s) may choose, at their discretion, to end a Student Conduct Conference (to be reconvened at a later time) for reasons such as: disruptive, threatening, or disorderly conduct; emergency situation; or procedural issue.
- i. After the portion of the Student Conduct Conference concludes in which all relevant information has been received, the Student Conduct Administrator(s) shall determine whether the Respondent is found to be responsible for the conduct code violation(s) of which they were accused.

- j. The Student Conduct Administrator(s) determination shall be made based upon whether a preponderance of the evidence (more likely than not) indicates that the Respondent violated the Student Conduct Code. The burden of proof rests with the Respondent.
- k. Formal rules of process, procedure and/or technical rules of evidence, such as those applied in criminal or civil court, are not used in Student Conduct Code proceedings.
- I. The Student Conduct Administrator(s) will provide simultaneous notification of the outcome of the student conduct meeting. and will notify complainant(s) (in a Title IX case) of the time, date, and location of the conduct meeting.
- m. All procedural questions during the course of the Student Conduct Conference are subject to the final decision of the Student Conduct Administrator(s).
- n. The University reserves the right to create a single verbatim record or recording of a Student Conduct Conference, excluding deliberations. The record shall be the property of the University. No other recordings shall be permitted by other parties.
- o. If a Respondent, with notice, does not appear before a Student Conduct Administrator(s), the information shall be presented and considered even if the Respondent is not present.
- p. The Student Conduct Administrator(s) may accommodate concerns for the personal safety, well-being and/or fears of confrontation of the Respondent, Complainant, and/or other witnesses during the hearing by providing separate facilities, by using a visual screen and/or by permitting participation by telephone, video conferencing, written statement, or other means, as determined by the sole judgment of Student Conduct Administrator(s) to be appropriate.

F. Sanctions

- a. One or more of the following sanctions may be imposed upon any student(s) found to have violated the Student Conduct Code. Sanctions include but may not be limited to:
 - i. Warning A warning is a written reprimand to the student indicating a violation of the Student Conduct Code has occurred. (RUSO Student Policy 4.3.3a)
 - ii. Conduct Review Conduct Review is severe enough in nature to warrant the monitoring of a student's behavior for a specified amount of time. Conduct review rises to the level of conduct probation; however, is slightly less due to mitigating circumstances. If there is a finding of responsibility for subsequent violations of the Student Conduct Code during this period of time, more severe sanctions may be administered. A student on Conduct Review remains in good standing with the University.
 - iii. Conduct Probation Conduct Probation is for a designated (consecutive) period of time and includes the probability of more severe disciplinary sanctions if the student is found to violate any institutional regulation(s) during the probation period. A student on Conduct Probation is not in good standing with the University. An individual not in good standing: (RUSO Student Policy 4.3.3c)
 - 1. may not officially represent the University in any University sponsored event.
 - 2. may not hold any leadership position in any University recognized organization, and/or

- 3. may affect receipt of institutional scholarships and/or financial aid.
- iv. Student Account Hold A hold may be placed on a student's account as part of the outcome of a conduct conference. This may be done as a result of failure to complete additional sanctions or as a sanction on its own.
- v. Loss of Privileges Loss of privileges is denial of specified privileges for a designated (consecutive) period of time.
- vi. Restitution Restitution is the compensation for loss, damage or injury. This may take the form of appropriate service and/or monetary or material replacement.
- vii. Educational Requirements The imposing of educational sanctions includes, but is not limited to: letter of apology, presentation of a workshop, preparation of a research paper or project, community restitution, counseling, assessment or evaluation. (RUSO Student Policy 4.4.4b Penalties)
- viii. Residence Hall Review Residence Hall Review is notice to the resident that their behavior is unbecoming of a resident and NSU student. If the resident is found responsible for another Residence Life Policy violation, then previous conduct will be taken into consideration at the time of sanctioning.
- ix. Residence Hall Suspension Residence Hall Suspension is the separation of the student from the residence halls for a designated (consecutive) period of time, after which the student is eligible to return. Conditions for readmission may be specified.
- x. Residence Hall Expulsion Residence Hall Expulsion is the permanent separation of the student from the residence halls.
- xi. Residence Hall Transfer Administrative room reassignment for a determined or indefinite period of time.
- xii. University Suspension University Suspension is the separation of the student from the University for a designated (consecutive) period of time, after which the student is eligible to return. Conditions for readmission may be specified. A suspension hold will be placed on the transcript during the period of suspension. (RUSO Student Policy 4.4.5d)
- xiii. University Expulsion University Expulsion is the permanent separation of the student from the University. When a student is expelled, a record of this action will be made a part of the student's permanent record. (RUSO Student Policy 4.4.5e)
- xiv. Determination or Reduction of Grade(s) Grade(s) for a specific course, assignment, paper, project, or other academic work, may be determined, or reduced should a student be found responsible for academic or other misconduct.
- xv. Removal from Class(es) or Program(s) May be permanent or for a designated (consecutive) period of time.
- xvi. Revocation of Admission and/or Degree Admission to or a degree awarded from the University may be revoked for fraud, misrepresentation or other violations of University standards in obtaining the degree, or for other serious

- violations committed by a student prior to graduation. (RUSO Student Policy 4.4.5f)
- xvii. Withholding Degree The University may withhold awarding a degree otherwise earned until the completion of the process set forth in this Student Conduct Code, including the completion of all sanctions imposed, if any.
- xviii. Deferred Sanction Deferred Sanction is the delay or postponing of any sanction. If a student is found responsible for any violation of the Student Conduct Code while on a deferred sanction the original sanction will be implemented, in addition, a new conduct process may be initiated.
- xix. Parental Notification When students, who are under the age of 21, are found responsible for violating the Student Conduct Code, or local, state, and federal laws in regards to alcohol and/or controlled substances the University reserves the right to parent or legal guardian notification.
- xx. No Contact Order Any and all communications between two or more parties may be imposed in order to establish and maintain the safety of the campus community and its individuals.
- b. More than one of the sanctions listed above may be imposed for any single violation.
- c. Other than University expulsion, revocation or withholding of a degree, disciplinary sanctions shall not be made part of the student's permanent academic record, but shall become part of the student's disciplinary record.
- d. A student may request in writing to expunge a disciplinary record no less than one academic year after completion of sanction(s). An expunged disciplinary record is the process in which student's disciplinary record is cleared for disclosure purposes only; however, the disciplinary record will remain on file. Such written request shall be made to the VPSA or his/her designee.
- e. In cases where a student is found responsible for a violation(s) of the Student Conduct Code, the sanctions shall be determined and imposed by the Student Conduct Administrator(s).
- f. Following the Student Conduct Conference, the Student Conduct Administrator(s) will advise the appropriate parties of the outcome.

G. Conduct Conference Outcomes

- a. All outcomes shall be presented to the Respondent(s) in written form (by NSU email, postal service, and/or campus mail) following the Conduct Conference.
- All outcomes shall be presented to the Complainant(s), in cases of a Title IX allegation or act(s) of violence, in writing, simultaneously with the written notification to the Respondent(s).
- c. A student is considered notified of the outcome as of the date the written notification is sent.

H. Separation Procedures

a. Any student suspended from NSU (excluding temporary suspension) will be withdrawn from both current and future classes in which they are enrolled. The date of the withdrawal will be determined as the last date of the conduct process including appeal or the last date they could have appealed if the student had chosen to do so.

- b. Following a decision to suspend, the student's ID, housing key, and any other University property should be turned in to NSU Officials.
- c. The student will be accompanied by a University representative to collect belongings from their room in University Housing and/or locker.
- d. Students under suspension may not enter or use any University property or facilities until such time that the Suspension is lifted. Additionally, you may not participate in classes or any University sponsored events or activities. Failure to abide by the Suspension may result in further disciplinary and/or criminal action. If for any reason you believe you may need access to the campus, you must contact the University Police or Student Affairs to obtain permission and an escort if permission is granted.

Appeals

a. Appeal Request

- i. To request an appeal, the student must submit the reason for their appeal in writing (typed, not hand-written). The request may be signed, dated, and delivered to Student Affairs (Admin 209, Tahlequah) or may be emailed to Student Affairs (studentaffairs@nsuok.edu) within seven University business days following the date the outcome letter was sent. Any email should be sent from the student's NSU email account.
- ii. An appeal request allows a respondent(s) (in all cases) or complainant (in a Title IX case or act of violence) the opportunity to bring forward concerns about the outcome of the case in which they were a part. An appeal may be requested for one or more of the following
 - 1. Sanctioning is believed to be too severe or too lenient.
 - 2. New Information becomes available which could significantly impact the original findings or sanctions and was not available during the original conduct meeting. (This new information must be included with the written appeal request).
 - 3. Errors in procedure occurred which may have significantly impacted the outcome.
 - 4. NOTE: Failure to check or claim notice of correspondence from the University via email, Postal Service, or campus mail may not constitute an acceptable reason for appeal.

b. Additional Guidelines

- During the appeal process, records reviewed may include but are not limited to: Investigation reports, findings, sanctions assigned, the appeal request, and/or other procedural documents.
- ii. Appropriate parties shall be notified regarding the submission, denial or acceptance, and outcome of an appeal, simultaneously when required, and within a reasonably determined time-frame.
- iii. All sanctions assigned by the original conduct administrator(s) shall remain in effect during the appeal process to ensure the safety of the campus community. Exceptions may be requested in writing to the VPSA or designee. Graduation, internships, co-curricular activities, athletics, exams, and other activities are generally not seen as reasons for delaying sanctions. Should the appeal result in

reinstatement to the University, Student Affairs will assist in the transition back into good standing but cannot guarantee that there will not be implications or losses.

J. Denied Appeals

a. Appeal requests are reviewed by the VPSA (or designee) in order to determine that the criteria are met. Following a review, the appeal may be denied by the VPSA (or designee) if it is determined that the appeal request did not meet the above-mentioned criteria. If a request is denied the VPSA (or designee) will notify the requesting party (and complainant if applicable).

K. Approved Appeals

- a. If an appeal is approved, both complainant(s) and respondent(s) involved in the same case may respond to the appeal. All responses must be in writing. Any party wishing to provide a response should do so, as there will be only one appeal.
- b. If the appeal does not involve suspension, temporary suspension, expulsion, degree revocation, or rescission of credit, it will be reviewed by the VPSA (or designee).

L. Student Conduct Appeals Committee

- a. If the appeal involves suspension, expulsion, degree revocation, or rescission of credit, the Student Conduct Appeals Committee will consider the appeal.
- b. The appeals committee shall be appointed by the President of the University and may include students, faculty and staff whose primary duties are not concerned with the administration of student conduct and affairs. The President will receive nominations for committee memberships from the Faculty Senate and Staff Council, provided that Faculty Senate and Staff Council nominations are submitted within 30 days from time of notification that a vacancy(s) exists. If nominations are not made within 30 days, the President will fill the vacancy(s) from faculty, staff, and students. The student members of the committee shall be nominated by the Northeastern Student Government Association. Nominations must be submitted in the same manner as those for the Faculty Senate. Student members shall be excluded from the appeals committee for cases involving Title IX Violation(s) and acts of violence.
- c. A student who is granted an appeal shall have the right to exclude the student members of the committee upon request.
- d. Any act by a properly constituted committee, at which a quorum of the committee is present, shall be binding.
- e. Hearings will be held as soon as practical after the request is made by the student
- f. An appeal shall be limited to a review of the record of the Student Conduct Conference and supporting documents for one or more of the following purposes:
 - i. To determine whether the sanction(s) were too severe or too lenient.
 - ii. To consider the new information and determine if it would have significantly impacted the original findings or sanctions.
 - iii. To determine whether errors in procedure occurred and significantly impacted the outcome.
- g. The appeal process is file-review only.
- h. The VPSA (or designee) provides oversight for the appeal process and committee functions. The VPSA (or designee) is responsible for the training of committee members.

i. The committee will:

- i. Select a committee chair.
- ii. Review the student's written appeal, any statements submitted in response to the appeal, and the conduct case file(s).
- iii. Deliberate as needed to determine one of the following actions:
 - Return the case to the original Student Conduct Administrator(s) for a new Conduct Conference and/or sanctions
 - 2. Reverse or Modify the outcome and/or sanctions
 - 3. Uphold the outcome and/or sanctions
- j. The committee must have quorum and majority vote. The committee's decision must be submitted in writing to the VPSA no later than two business days after the appeals meeting. Committee reasoning for the decision must be included.

M. Appeal Outcomes

- a. The VPSA will notify the appropriate parties of the committee's finding in writing via University email and/or printed letter.
- b. All appeal outcomes are final.

N. Disciplinary Files and Records

- a. Case referrals will result in the development of a disciplinary file in the name of the respondent. If the student is found not responsible for the charges, the file will be marked no action, no record, and shall not constitute a disciplinary record. Such files will be destroyed after one year.
- The files of students found responsible for charges against them, with sanctions less than suspension or expulsion, will generally be maintained in the Student Conduct Office for seven years from the calendar year of record, after which they are destroyed.
- c. Records of cases in which suspension or expulsion from the University occur are kept for 10 and 15 years respectively.
- d. Confidentiality All disciplinary records are confidential and may not be disclosed in whole or in part except as provided by law or by the written authorization of the student, under legal compulsion, or where the safety of other persons may be involved. Disciplinary records are maintained separate from the student's academic record but are part of the student's educational record.
- e. Re-release of disciplinary information/records Individuals participating in disciplinary proceedings are bound by law to not disclose information discussed in the proceedings. When disciplinary records are permitted to be disclosed to an individual only, that information should not be re-disclosed, under penalty of law.

Article V: Interpretation and Revision

- A. Any question of interpretation or application of the Student Conduct Code shall be referred to the VPSA or his/her designee for final determination.
- B. The Student Conduct Code shall be reviewed every year under the direction of the VPSA or his/her designee.
- C. The University reserves the right to discontinue, modify or otherwise change its Student Conduct Code.

Sex Offender Registry

The federal Campus Sex Crimes Prevention Act, enacted on October 28, 2000, requires institutions of higher education to issue a statement advising the campus community where law enforcement agency information provided by a state concerning registered sex offenders may be obtained.

Oklahoma law (Title 57, Sections 583-584) requires anyone required to register as a sex offender to do so with both their local law enforcement (municipal or county) agency at their residence and also with the police or security department of any institution of higher education at which they are enrolled as a student (full-time or part-time), are an employee (full-time or part-time) or reside (or intend to reside or stay) on any property owned or controlled by the institution of higher education.

Information on any sex offender who works for, attends, or lives on property owned by Northeastern State University can be found at each office for the Northeastern State University Police Department.

Title IX and Compliance

NSU encourages those who have experienced sexual harassment to report these offenses promptly to the Title IX Coordinator and seek all available assistance. Individuals wishing to pursue criminal complaints may also report to the NSU Police Department:

Title IX Coordinator:
Jamie Hall
Seminary Hall 103
601 N. Grand Avenue
Tahlequah, OK 74464
titleix@nsuok.edu
918.444.2120

Northeastern State University Police Department:

Tahlequah Campus
Administration Building, LL
918.444.2468
Broken Arrow Campus
Business & Technology 101
918.444.2468
Muskogee Campus
918.444.2468

Confidential Reporting Options

On-Campus Option

Hawkreach Counseling Services 918.444.2042 (Tahlequah & Muskogee) 918.449.6131 (Broken Arrow) hawkreach@nsuok.edu

Student Advocate- 918.444.2042

Off-Campus Options

Help In Crisis- 918.456.0673 WISH (Women in Safe Homes, Muskogee)- 918.682.7879 DVIS (Domestic Violence Intervention Services, Tulsa/Broken Arrow)- 918.743.5763

Online Reporting Option

Anyone may use the report a concern link, <u>nsuok.edu/ReportConcern.aspx</u>, to report any incidents or concerning behavior. These reports are submitted to the Behavioral Intervention Team (BIT) for reviewGuidance on Taking Immediate Action

In the event that sexual assault or violence occurred, do everything possible to preserve evidence by making certain that the crime scene is not disturbed. (The decision to press charges does not have to be made at this time. However, following these procedures will help preserve this option for the future.) Complaining parties should not bathe, urinate, douche, brush teeth, or drink liquids. Clothes should not be changed; but if they are, bring all the original clothing to the hospital in a paper bag, as plastic bags may damage the evidence.

When necessary, seek immediate medical attention at an area hospital and take a full change of clothing, including shoes, for use after the medical examination.

If you have been choked/strangled, we strongly encourage you to seek immediate medical attention.

All incidents of sexual harassment or retaliation, should be reported to the Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator will provide for the adequate, reliable, and equitable investigations on all complaints.

Statement on Procedure

In Title IX procedures, legal terms like "guilt, "innocence" and "burdens of proof" are not applicable, but NSU never assumes a party is in violation of NSU policy. Campus hearings consider the totality of all evidence available, from all relevant sources. NSU uses preponderance of evidence as its burden of proof.

Before a formal complaint is filed, a complainant will be offered supportive measures. Should a formal complaint be filed, the respondent will also be offered supportive measures. These may include, but are not limited to:

- Modifications of living arrangements
- Modification of academic schedule
- Mutual non-communication agreement
- Modifications of employment location, hours, etc.
- Counseling
- Health care referral

If allegations are made against the Title IX Coordinator, the HR director will initiate the process of investigating the complaint.

Grievance Procedure

General Requirements

In accordance with federal law, NSU will prescribe to a consistent, transparent process for resolving formal complaints of sexual harassment. This includes:

- Treating complainants equitably by providing remedies any time a respondent is found responsible.
- Treating respondents equitably by not imposing disciplinary sanctions without following the grievance procedure outlined in this policy. The respondent is always presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct until a determination regarding responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process. Even a preemptive measure such as a properly implemented emergency removal does not mitigate this presumption.
- Requiring objective evaluation of all relevant evidence and avoiding credibility determinations based on a person's status as a complainant, respondent, or witness.
- Not restricting rights protected under the US Constitution, including the First Amendment, Fifth Amendment, and Fourteenth Amendment, when complying with Title IX.
- Affirming the complainant's wishes with respect to whether NSU investigates the incident, unless the Title IX coordinator decides to initiate an investigation over the complainant's wishes should such decision be clearly reasonable due to the known circumstances.
- If the allegations in a formal complaint do not meet the definition of sexual harassment, or did not occur in the school's education program or activity against a person in the United States, federal law clarifies that NSU must dismiss such allegations for the purposes of Title IX but may still address the allegations in any manner the school deems appropriate under the school's own code of conduct.

NSU shall take reasonable steps to prevent the recurrence of sexual harassment or retaliation in any form. If the reoccurrence takes place, those responsible for such behavior may be subject to disciplinary and/or legal action.

Emergency Removal

NSU may, at its discretion, employ the use of emergency removals. NSU will undertake an individualized safety and risk assessment to determine if a respondent is an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of any individual arising from the allegations of sexual harassment. A respondent will be given the opportunity to immediately challenge the decision following removal (also known as a show-cause meeting).

Show-cause Meeting

Following an emergency removal from campus, a respondent wishing to challenge their removal must:

- 1. Request a meeting through the Office of Student Conduct & Development for students and the Office of Human Resources for employees.
- 2. Prior to the scheduled meeting, provide written documentation supporting the claim for the emergency removal to be lifted.
- 3. Meetings may be conducted in-person or virtually, at the discretion of the administrator.
- 4. Outcomes will be communicated to the parties via email within 24 hours after the conclusion of the show-cause meeting.

Formal Complaint

Once a report of sexual harassment is made, the Title IX Coordinator offer supportive measures to the individual who is alleged to be the victim.

Next, the Title IX Coordinator will ask the alleged victim if they would like to submit a formal, signed, complaint.

If they choose not to submit a formal complaint, see Special Provisions section of this document.

If they choose to submit a signed formal complaint, the Title IX Coordinator will:

- Notify the respondent, in writing, of the allegations against them and the supportive measures available, see notice of allegations.
- Notify both complainant and respondent, in writing, of their right to choose an advisor of their choice. The university can and will provide an advisor to either party.

After the notice, an investigation of the report shall be pursued within ten (10) university business days. To ensure a prompt and thorough investigation, the complainant should provide as much of the following information as possible:

- The name, department, and/or position of the person or persons allegedly causing the sexual harassment or retaliation.;
- A description of the incident(s), including the date(s), location(s), and the presence of any witnesses;
- The names of other students or employees who might have been subject to the same or similar sexual harassment or retaliation;
- Any steps the complainant has taken to try to stop the sexual harassment or retaliation; and
- Any other information the complainant believes to be relevant to the sexual harassment, harassment, or retaliation.

Notice of Allegations

Upon receipt of a formal complaint, the Title IX Coordinator will provide a written notice to the respondent containing:

- notice of our grievance process (including informal resolution process)
- notice of the allegations of sexual harassment, including:
 - The identities of the parties involved in the incident, if known.
 - The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment
 - o The date and location of the alleged incident, if known
 - A statement that the respondent is presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct
 - A statement that determination of responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process

- The ability to have an advisor of their choice
- Information about reviewing evidence
- Information pertaining to the conduct code in regards to knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false information during the grievance process.
- o Information regarding NSU's retaliation policy.
- Information about the process for notification should additional allegations be made during the course of the grievance process.

Sufficient preparation time will be given to the parties before any initial interview.

Advisors

Parties may have an advisor present during any investigation meeting. The role of the advisor will be limited to being present only; the advisor will not be permitted to speak to anyone other than their advisee during any meeting, interview or hearing relevant to the investigation, with the exception of cross examination within the hearing setting. If the advisor is an attorney, the party shall notify the Title IX Coordinator that an attorney will be present at least two days prior to the meeting, interview or hearing.

Investigation

When a formal complaint is signed, a formal investigation will be conducted. The Title IX Coordinator will assign investigators. All investigations will be conducted by at least two investigators who have received appropriate training approved by the Title IX Coordinator. The investigators must be free from conflicts of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents. Investigators may include (but are not limited to) the Title IX Coordinator; other appropriate NSU faculty or staff; or contracted, external investigators. The investigation shall be concluded within a reasonable amount of time. The investigation will be conducted in a manner so that it is adequate, reliable, and impartial.

The investigation may include but is not limited to, interviews of the parties involved, including witnesses, and the gathering of other relevant information.

All parties may present witnesses and other relevant inculpatory and exculpatory evidence for objective evaluation. The Title IX Coordinator will send evidence directly related to the allegations to the parties and their advisor prior to the final investigation report. Parties have 10 days to inspect, review, and respond to the evidence.

At any time during the investigation, the investigators may recommend supportive measures.

Investigation Report

Once a formal investigation is concluded, a written investigative report shall be submitted to the Title IX Coordinator. The investigation report is a written report describing the evidence gathered from the investigation with description of all the interviews and any other documents reviewed.

The Title IX Coordinator will determine whether further action is needed pursuant to NSU policy and/or state or federal law, and respond accordingly. If further action is deemed necessary resolution processes or disciplinary procedures will be initiated. However, the Title IX Coordinator must dismiss formal complaints:

- of misconduct that do not meet the sexual harassment definition, and/or
- that did not occur within an NSU educational program or activity against a person in the US.

The Title IX Coordinator may dismiss a formal complaint:

- if a complainant desires to withdraw their formal complaint, and/or
- the respondent is no longer enrolled at NSU, and/or
- if NSU is unable to gather sufficient information to reach a determination.

After review, the Title IX Coordinator will send the parties and their advisors the investigation report. Parties will have 10 days to respond (in writing, emailed or signed and delivered to the Title IX Coordinator) should they choose to do so.

Live Hearings

NOTE: For additional details, see Student Handbook, Article IV Student Conduct Code Procedures; F. Student Conduct Conferences for Individuals; for employees see Employment Handbook; HR 8.0 Sexual Harassment Policy.

If investigation findings indicate a potential Title IX policy violation, a live hearing with cross-examination will be held. A minimum of two decision-makers will be appointed by the conduct administrator or who will schedule the live hearing. The decision-makers will determine whether or not there has been a policy violation and determine a resolution.

All live hearings will be audio and/or audio-visual recorded.

Live hearings may be conducted with all parties physically present. However, at the request of either party or at the discretion of NSU, the institution will provide for the entire live hearing to occur with the parties located in separate rooms with technology enabling the parties to see and hear each other. If a party does not have an advisor present at the live hearing, NSU will provide an advisor of NSU's choice.

Cross-examination is sensitive and must take place in a phased process. Each party's advisor is permitted to ask the other party and any witnesses all relevant questions and follow-up questions, including those challenging credibility. Such cross-examination at the live hearing must be conducted directly, orally, and in real time by the party's advisor of choice and never by a party personally. Before a complainant, respondent, or witness answers a question, the decision-makers must first determine whether the question is relevant. Decision-makers will then explain to the party's advisor asking the question why it is not relevant. The decision-makers may deem certain questions about a complainant's prior sexual behavior irrelevant unless offered to prove that someone other than the respondent committed the alleged misconduct or offered to prove consent. Unduly repetitive character witnesses or any other types of witnesses including expert witnesses can be limited at the discretion of the panel.

The decision-makers must issue a written determination regarding responsibility. Written determination will be sent to the parties simultaneously. This determination will include:

- A reference to the policy(s) alleged to have been violated.
- A summary of the allegations.
- Findings of fact supporting the determination.
- Conclusions about whether the alleged conduct occurred.
- Rationale for the result as to each allegation.
- Any disciplinary sanctions imposed on the respondent; see Student Code of Conduct.
- Whether remedies will be provided to the complainant.
- Procedural information on appeals for either party.

Appeals (Students Only)

NOTE: Employee appeals differ depending on employment status; see Employment Handbook; HR 8.7 Appeals for employees.

To request an appeal, of the live hearing outcome or the dismissal of a complaint, the student must submit the reason for their appeal in writing (typed, not hand-written). The request may be signed, dated, and delivered to Student Conduct and Development or may be emailed to Student Conduct and Development (conduct@nsuok.edu), within 7 days following the date the outcome letter was sent. Any email should be sent from the student's NSU email account.

An appeal request allows a respondent or complainant the opportunity to bring forward concerns about the outcome of the case in which they were a part. An appeal may be requested for one or more of the following:

- Procedural irregularity that may have affected the outcome, and/or
- Newly discovered evidence that may have affected the outcome (the new evidence must be included with the written appeal request), and/or
- Title IX personnel had a conflict of interest or bias that may have affected the outcome.

Failure to check or claim notice of correspondence from the university via email, postal service, or campus mail, may not constitute an acceptable reason for appeal.

During the appeal process, records reviewed may include, but are not limited to: investigation reports, findings, sanctions assigned, the appeal request, and/or other procedural documents. Character references/letters of support will not be considered at the appeal. Any party wishing to provide a response to a submitted appeal has 7 days to do so. Responses should be submitted in writing to the conduct administrator (conduct@nsuok.edu). There will only be one appeal.

Appropriate parties shall be notified regarding the submission, denial, or acceptance, and outcome of an appeal, simultaneously, and within a reasonable time frame.

Appeals will be conducted as file review by the VPSA, Dean of Students, and one additional designee. The committee may determine one of the following actions:

- Return the case to the original student conduct administrator for a new conduct conference and/or sanction.
- Reverse or modify the outcome and/or sanctions. Modification may include, reducing or increasing the severity of the original sanctions.
- Uphold the outcome and/or sanctions.

Appeal decisions are final.

Informal Resolution

At the discretion of the Title IX Coordinator, informal resolution may be offered following a formal complaint. Informal resolution may include, but is not limited to, mediation or restorative justice measures. Both parties must give voluntary, informed, written consent to participate in an informal resolution process and may withdraw from the informal resolution process at any time prior to a resolution.

In cases where the facts are generally not in dispute, and the respondent expresses a willingness to accept responsibility for all charges in a case, with the informed consent of the complainant and the University, the hearing procedure will be waived. The parties will be provided the opportunity to submit a written statement to the Title IX Coordinator, who will share this information (with the Student Conduct Coordinator for student respondents and with the Assistant Director of Human Resources for employee respondents) for consideration in determining appropriate sanctions. The sanction decision will be made based on investigation information and the written statements, as well as any conduct history on the part of the respondent. Any appeal in an acceptance of responsibility resolution will be limited to the grounds that the sanction provided by the University is grossly inappropriate in light of the violations committed, or relevant aggravating and mitigating factors, and in consideration of applicable policy. Both the complainant and the respondent shall have the same right of appeal.

NOTE: An informal resolution process may not be offered or facilitated if the respondent is an employee of NSU and the complainant is a student of NSU.

Procedural Considerations

Jurisdiction

This policy applies to any allegation of sexual harassment against members of the NSU community on NSU property, in NSU programs, on land NSU leases or controls, or at events NSU sponsors. NSU may address off-campus or out-of-school harassment, including but not limited to public forums (Internet speech, Facebook, etc.), especially when those off-campus or out-of-school acts have a demonstrable and/or significant on-campus or in-school disruptive impact.

Confidentiality

Students may make confidential reports may be made by contacting HawkReach Counseling Services and/or off-campus victim services providers (see contact information provided in this document). Employees may use any of the off-campus victim services provides listed in this policy. NSU Counselors and Victim's Advocate are available free of charge, and can be seen on an emergency basis.

All inquiries, complaints, and investigations are treated with discretion; however, information is revealed as law and policy require. Therefore, the identity of the complainant and any witnesses may be revealed to the person(s) accused of such misconduct.

Federal Statistical Reporting Obligations:

Certain campus officials (campus security officials) have a duty to report violations of this policy for federal statistical reporting purposes. All personally identifiable information is kept private, but statistical information must be passed along to the Clery Reporting Officer regarding the type of incident and its general location (on or off-campus, in the surrounding area, but no addresses are given), for publication in the annual Campus Security Report. This report helps to provide the community with a clear picture of the extent and nature of campus crime, to ensure greater community safety.

Federal Timely Warning Reporting Obligations:

In accordance with Federal law, NSU administrators must issue timely warnings when incidents pose a substantial threat of bodily harm or danger to members of the campus community. NSU will make every effort to ensure that a victim's name and other identifying information is not disclosed, while still providing enough information for community members to make safety decisions in light of the danger.

Cooperation with Law Enforcement

NSU will implement appropriate measures during a law enforcement agency's investigation to provide for the safety of the campus community and may cooperate with law enforcement to the extent of and accordance with local, state, and federal law.

Records Maintenance

The final written report and all documentation contained in the investigation file should be turned over to the Title IX Coordinator. Records detailing the University's investigation into potential violations of this policy will be collected and maintained, including notes of interviews, copies of documents reviewed, and other relevant information. This record will be maintained by the Title IX Coordinator for a minimum period of 7 years. All hearings will be audio and/or audio-visual recorded.

Retaliation

Retaliation is any direct or indirect action taken against a person or organization as a response to their involvement or affiliation with the conduct, academic, legal, and/or administrative process. Any act of retaliation, which may include threats, intimidation, coercion, or discrimination, may result in disciplinary action.

Special Provisions

Distinct and Separate Process

The University may undertake a short delay to allow evidence collection when criminal charges on the basis of the same behaviors that invoke this process are being investigated by police or other law enforcement. University action will not be precluded on the grounds that civil or criminal charges involving the same incident have or have not been filed or that charges have been dismissed or reduced. The Civil Rights & Title IX Process is distinct from any criminal investigation and flows from the University's obligation under Title IX and other equity laws to ensure it is providing a safe and nondiscriminatory environment. If a complainant wishes to pursue criminal processes only and wants to waive any University response to the situation, they should make that request to the Title IX Coordinator – and such requests will usually be respected unless the University must act independently to preserve the safety of the campus community from a threat or future violation of policy.

Good Samaritan/Limited Immunity

The welfare of individuals in our community is of paramount importance. Sometimes, individuals are hesitant to offer assistance to others, for fear that they may get themselves in trouble (for example, as student who has been drinking underage might hesitate to help take a victim of sexual misconduct to NSU Police). NSU pursues a policy of limited immunity for individuals who offer help to others in need. While Student Conduct Code or Employment Handbook violations may not be overlooked, NSU will take into consideration the positive actions of those who offer their assistance to others.

Notification of Outcomes

In cases of arson, burglary, robbery, criminal homicide, sex offenses, assault, destruction/damage/vandalism of property and kidnapping/abduction, NSU may publicly release the name of the involved party found to be in violation of NSU policy as well as the nature of the violation and/or sanction(s) assigned.

Pregnant or Parenting Students and Employees

NSU reviews all cases for pregnant or parenting students and employees on an individual basis. Each individual is encouraged to communicate and work with their individual faculty members or supervisors to develop a plan for class, assignments, etc. The Title IX Coordinator may assist in this process at the request of the individual.

Title IX Coordinator as Complainant

As necessary, the Title IX Coordinator reserves the right to initiate a conduct complaint, to serve as complainant, and to initiate conduct proceedings with or without a formal complainant.

Crime Statistics

Northeastern State University policies and procedures require the publication of annual crime statistics. Included in this report are crimes reported to the Northeastern State University Police Department and other campus officials, including University Counseling Services, Residential Life and Student Conduct Services, and local law enforcement. Crime statistics are collected by the Northeastern State University Police Department. The crime and arrest statistics reported are those that occurred within the jurisdictional boundaries of campus. They do not include off-campus private housing, which are within the municipal or county police jurisdictions. Crime statistics are available through the local municipal or county police agencies.

Definition of Terms for Statistical Charts

The charts setting forth statistical data on reported crimes include the following terms.

On-Campus: Any building or property owned or controlled by an institution within the same reasonably contiguous geographic area and used by the institution in direct support of, or in a manner related to, the institution's educational purposes, including residence halls; and Any building or property that is within or reasonably contiguous to the area identified in paragraph (1) of this definition, that is owned by the institution but controlled by another person, is frequently used by students, and supports institutional purposes (such as a food or other retail vendor).

On-campus Student Housing Facilities: For purposes of the Clery Act (as well as the HEA missing student notification and fire safety regulations, which are discussed in Chapters 10 and 11–14, respectively), any student housing facility that is owned or controlled by the institution, or is located on property that is owned or controlled by the institution, and is within the reasonably contiguous geographic area that makes up the campus is considered an on-campus student housing facility.

Other: Any non-residence area on campus.

<u>Non-Campus Building or Property:</u> Any building or property owned or controlled by a student organization that is officially recognized by the institution; or any building or property owned or controlled by an institution that is used in direct support of, or in relation to, the institution's educational purposes, is frequently used by students, and is not within the same reasonably contiguous geographic area of the institution.

<u>Public Property:</u> All public property, including thoroughfares, streets, sidewalks, and parking facilities, that is within the campus, or immediately adjacent to and accessible from the campus.

Crime Definitions

<u>Aggravated Assault:</u> Aggravated assault is an unlawful attack by one person upon another for the purpose of inflicting severe or aggravated bodily injury. This type of assault usually is accompanied by the use of a weapon or by means likely to produce death or great bodily harm.

<u>Arson:</u> Arson is any willful or malicious burning or attempt to burn, with or without intent to defraud, a dwelling house, public building, motor vehicle or aircraft, personal property of another, etc.

Burglary: Burglary is the unlawful entry of a structure to commit a felony or a theft.

<u>Criminal Homicide:</u> These offenses are separated into two categories: Murder and Nonnegligent Manslaughter, and Negligent Manslaughter. Murder and Non-negligent Manslaughter is defined as the willful (non-negligent) killing of one human being by another. Negligent Manslaughter is defined as the killing of another person through gross negligence.

<u>Dating Violence</u>: Dating violence is defined as violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim. The existence of such a relationship shall be determined based on the reporting party's statement and with consideration of the length of the relationship, the type of relationship, and the frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

<u>Domestic Violence</u>: Domestic violence is a felony or misdemeanor crime of violence committed by a:

- Current or former spouse or intimate partner of the victim,
- Person with whom the victim shares a child in common,
- Person who is cohabitating with or has cohabited with the victim as a spouse or intimate partner,
- Person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the domestic or family violence laws of Oklahoma; or,
- Any other person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person's acts under the domestic of family violence laws of Oklahoma.

Domestic violence is a pattern of abusive behavior in any relationship that is used by one partner to gain or maintain power and control over another intimate partner. Domestic violence can be physical, sexual, emotional, economic or psychological actions or threats of actions that influence another person.

<u>Drug Abuse Violations</u>: A drug abuse violation is the violation of laws prohibiting the production, distribution and/or use of certain controlled substances and the equipment or devices utilized in their preparation and/or use. The unlawful cultivation, manufacture, distribution, sale, purchase, use, possession, transportation or importation of any controlled drug or narcotic substance. Arrests for violations of state and local laws, specifically those relating to the unlawful possession, sale, use, growing, manufacturing and making of narcotic drugs.

<u>Hate Crimes:</u> A criminal offense that manifests evidence that the victim was intentionally selected because of the perpetrator's bias against the victim.

<u>Larceny or Theft:</u> The unlawful taking, carrying, leading or riding away of property from the possession or constructive possession of another without use of force or violence. It includes shoplifting, picking pockets, purse snatching, thefts of motor vehicle parts and accessories, bicycle and computer thefts.

<u>Liquor Law Violations</u>: Liquor Law Violations are defined as the violation of state or local laws or ordinances prohibiting the manufacture, sale, purchase, transportation, possession or use of alcoholic beverages, not including driving under the influence and drunkenness.

Motor Vehicle Theft: Motor vehicle theft is the theft or attempted theft of a motor vehicle.

<u>Robbery:</u> Robbery is the taking or attempting to take anything of value from the care, custody, or control of a person or persons by force or threat of force or violence and/or by putting the victim in fear.

<u>Sexual Assault (Sex Offenses):</u> Any sexual act directed against another person, without consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent.

- Rape is the penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus, with any body part or
 object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the consent of the victim.
 This offense includes the rape of both males and females.
- <u>Fondling</u> is the touching of the private body parts of another person for the purpose of sexual
 gratification, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable
 of giving consent because of his/her age or because of his/her temporary or permanent mental
 incapacity.
- <u>Incest</u> means sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.
- <u>Statutory Rape</u> means sexual intercourse with a person who is under the statutory age of consent (16).

<u>Stalking:</u> Stalking is defined as engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to—

- Fear for the person's safety or the safety of others; or
- Suffer substantial emotional distress.
- Course of Conduct means two or more acts, including, but not limited to, acts in which the stalker directly, indirectly, or through third parties, by an action, method, device, or means, follows, monitors, observes, surveils, threatens, or communicates to or about a person, or interferes with a person's property.
- Reasonable Person means a reasonable person under similar circumstances and with similar identities to the victim.
- Substantial Emotional Distress means significant mental suffering or anguish that may, but does not necessarily, require medical or other professional treatment or counseling.

<u>Unfounded Crimes:</u> A crime is considered unfounded for Clery Act purposes only if sworn or commissioned law enforcement personnel make a formal determination that the report is false or baseless.

<u>Weapons Law Violations:</u> A weapons law violation is defined as the violation of laws or ordinances prohibiting the manufacture, sale, purchase, transportation, possession, concealment, or use of

firearms, cutting instruments, explosives, incendiary devices or other deadly weapons. This classification encompasses weapons offenses that are regulatory in nature.

Obtaining Reports

To request a copy of a report or ask other related questions, contact the Northeastern State University Police Department at 918-444-2468. Requests for incident reports or traffic accident reports by persons involved will be processed when the investigation is completed. Northeastern State University students, faculty and staff are not charged for obtaining report copies when involved in the reported incident.

The Northeastern State University Police Department is committed to complying with its obligations under the Freedom of Information Act (FIOA) without undue delay, but realizes that the release of records may have an impact on victims, witnesses and the integrity of investigations. If an investigation is ongoing and still open, a request for any related Northeastern State University Police Department report may be denied and information of a personal nature will be withheld or redacted where the public disclosure of such information would constitute an invasion of privacy.

Working Relationships with Other Law Enforcement Agencies

The University Police Department works with state, tribal and local law enforcement authorities to investigate crimes near or on campus and in the community that may affect the safety and security of our campuses. Major incidents on campus are investigated in conjunction with the Oklahoma State Bureau of Investigation. The University Police Department has jurisdiction in the City of Tahlequah through a Police Services Agreement. A copy of the agreement is in the appendix A. These agencies include, but are not limited to, the following:

- City of Tahlequah
- Cherokee Nation Marshals Service
- Cherokee County Sheriff's Office
- City of Broken Arrow
- Wagoner County Sheriff's Office
- City of Muskogee
- Muskogee County Sheriff's Office
- Cherokee Nation Marshal Service

Off-Campus Crime

The Broken Arrow Police Department, Muskogee Police Department, and Tahlequah Police Department and other departments, as may be appropriate, provide information to Northeastern State University about criminal activity occurring off-campus involving a member of the Northeastern State University community, the department may notify the Northeastern State University Police Department. However, there is no official policy requiring such notification. If information about off-campus criminal activity involving a student or employee is obtained, NSU may, at its discretion, pursue disciplinary action through the Office of Student Conduct and Development (students) or through the Office of Human Resources (employees). We also receive information from Campus Security Authorities (coaches, residence hall staff, program sponsors, etc.). These include Greek organizations and other student organizations, athletic teams, clubs, and individuals. All off-campus crime, in these cases, may be subject to arrest by local, regional, state, or federal agencies and subject to Northeastern State University judicial proceedings through the Office of Student Affairs.

2021-2023 CRIME STATISTICS FOR TAHLEQUAH CAMPUS

		Tahlequah Campus						
Offense	Year	On-Campus	On-Campus Student Housing	Public Property				
Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
Negligent Manslaughter	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
Rape	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	1	1	0				
Fondling	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	1	1	0				
Incest	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
Statutory Rape	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
Robbery	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
Aggravated Assault	2023	1	1	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
Burglary	2023	1	1	0				
	2022	2	1	0				
	2021	4	1	0				
Motor Vehicle Theft	2023	3	0	0				
	2022	1	0	0				
	2021	2	0	0				
Arson	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	0	0	0				
VAWA Offenses								
Domestic Violence	2023	2	1	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2020	0	0	0				
Dating Violence	2023	0	0	0				
	2022	0	0	0				
	2021	1	1	0				
Stalking	2023	1	0	0				
<u> </u>	2022	3	2	0				
	2021	0	0	0				

			Tahlequah Campus	
Arrests	Year	On-Campus	On-Campus Student Housing	Public Property
Weapons Law Violation	2023	1	0	0
	2022	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0
Drug Law Violation	2023	5	0	2
	2022	0	0	1
	2021	4	3	1
Liquor Law Violation	2023	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0
Disciplinary Actions				
Weapons Law Violation	2023	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0
Drug Law Violation	2023	1	1	0
	2022	8	3	0
	2021	4	3	0
Liquor Law Violation	2023	0	0	0
	2022	10	4	0
	2021	12	12	0

UNFOUNDED CRIMES: If a crime is reported as occurring On-Campus, in or on Non-Campus buildings or property, or on Public Property, and the reported crime is investigated by sworn or commissioned law enforcement authorities and found to be false or baseless, the crime is considered to be "unfounded." Institutions must report the total number of: criminal offenses; hate crimes; and domestic violence, dating violence, or stalking incidents that have been unfounded.

- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2023 calendar year at this campus is 0.
- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2022 calendar year at this campus is 0.
- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2021 calendar year at this campus is 0.

HATE CRIME REPORTING:

There were no known hate crimes reported in 2021, 2022, or 2023 on any of the campus locations in Broken Arrow, Muskogee, or Tahlequah.

2023	Tahlequah							
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Reportable Offense:	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

2022	Tahlequah							
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

2021	Tahlequah							
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

2021-2023 CRIME STATISTICS FOR BROKEN ARROW CAMPUS

		Broken Arrow Campus					
Offense	Year	On-Campus	On-Campus Student Housing	Public Property			
Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Negligent Manslaughter	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Rape	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Fondling	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Incest	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Statutory Rape	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Robbery	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Aggravated Assault	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Burglary	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Motor Vehicle Theft	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Arson	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
VAWA Offenses							
Domestic Violence	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Dating Violence	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2022	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			
Stalking	2023	0	N/A	0			
Julking	2023	0	N/A	0			
	2021	0	N/A	0			

		Broken Arrow Campus						
Arrests	Year	On-Campus	On-Campus Student Housing	Public Property				
Weapons Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Drug Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Liquor Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Disciplinary Actions								
Weapons Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Drug Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Liquor Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				

NSU Broken Arrow does not have On Campus Student Housing Facilities.

UNFOUNDED CRIMES: If a crime is reported as occurring On-Campus, in or on Non-Campus buildings or property, or on Public Property, and the reported crime is investigated by sworn or commissioned law enforcement authorities and found to be false or baseless, the crime is considered to be "unfounded." Institutions must report the total number of: criminal offenses; hate crimes; and domestic violence, dating violence, or stalking incidents that have been unfounded.

- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2023 calendar year at this campus is 0.
- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2022 calendar year at this campus is 0.
- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2021 calendar year at this campus is 0.

HATE CRIME REPORTING:

2023	Broken Arrow							
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Reportable Offense:	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
A management and A analysis	0	0	0	0	0	0	Origin	Identity
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2022	Broke	n Arrow						•
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National Origin	Gender Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2021	Broke	n Arrow		I	l .		I	
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National Origin	Gender Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	10	U	U	U	U	U	U	U

2021-2023 CRIME STATISTICS FOR MUSKOGEE CAMPUS

		Muskogee Campus						
Offense	Year	On-Campus	On-Campus Student Housing	Public Property				
Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Negligent Manslaughter	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Rape	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Fondling	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Incest	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Statutory Rape	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Robbery	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Aggravated Assault	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Burglary	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	1	N/A	2				
Motor Vehicle Theft	2023	1	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Arson	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
VAWA Offenses			,					
Domestic Violence	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Dating Violence	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Stalking	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	1	N/A	0				

			Muskogee Campus					
Arrests	Year	On-Campus	On-Campus Student Housing	Public Property				
Weapons Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Drug Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	1				
Liquor Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	2				
Disciplinary Actions								
Weapons Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Drug Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				
Liquor Law Violation	2023	0	N/A	0				
	2022	0	N/A	0				
	2021	0	N/A	0				

NSU Muskogee does not have On Campus Student Housing Facilities.

UNFOUNDED CRIMES: If a crime is reported as occurring On-Campus, in or on Non-Campus buildings or property, or on Public Property, and the reported crime is investigated by sworn or commissioned law enforcement authorities and found to be false or baseless, the crime is considered to be "unfounded." Institutions must report the total number of: criminal offenses; hate crimes; and domestic violence, dating violence, or stalking incidents that have been unfounded.

- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2023 calendar year at this campus is 0.
- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2022 calendar year at this campus is 0.
- The total number of unfounded crimes for the 2021 calendar year at this campus is 0.

HATE CRIME REPORTING:

2023	Musk	Muskogee						
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

2022	Muskogee							
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

2021	Musk	Muskogee						
Reportable Offense	Race	Gender	Religion	Sexuality	Ethnicity	Disability	National	Gender
							Origin	Identity
Murder/Non-Negligent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Fondling	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Incest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sex Offense: Statutory Rape	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

2023 Annual Fire Safety Report

A requirement of the Higher Education Opportunity Act instructs any institution that maintains an oncampus student housing facility must collect fire statistics, publish an Annual Fire Safety Report, and keep a "fire log." These requirements are new and separate from the Clery Act requirements. However, to reduce administrative burden and to make it easier for students and parents to find the information, the regulations for data collection and dissemination will be published here.

- A. **DEFINITION OF A FIRE** For fire safety reporting, a fire is, "Any instance of open flame or other burning in a place not intended to contain the burning or in an uncontrolled manner." Fire definition citation 34 CFR 668.49(a) definitions.
- B. **FIRE STATISTICS** Fire statistics must be collected and reported in both the annual fire safety report and the U.S. Department of Education's web-based data collection system.

Reporting Fires and Fire Safety Concerns

Any person may make a report concerning a fire, a fire safety issue or other issue to the following individuals or departments:

Individual/Office	Title	Contact Information
Whitney Arbaugh	Director, Housing & Residence	918.444.4700
	Life	rolph@nsuok.edu
Dennis Moore	Coordinator of Campus Safety	918.444.2426
		mooredg@nsuok.ed
James Bell	Director of Public Safety	918.444.2468

Fire Safety Drills

At the beginning of each academic semester, all residence halls will host and successfully complete at least one fire drill per hall. All residence life staff and residential students will participate if present in the building.

Facility	Drills Completed: 2023
Courtside 1	2
Courtside 2	2
Courtside 3	2
Courtside 4	2
Courtside 5	2
Courtside 6	2
Courtside 7	2
Courtside 8	2
Cobb Hall	2
Leoser Hall	2
Seminary Suites A	2
Seminary Suites B	2
Seminary Suites C	2
Seminary Suites D	2
Seminary Suites E	2
Wyly Hall	2

Fire Safety Awareness:

The residence halls have an evacuation plan posted at the fire extinguisher boxes and on each floor. Memorize your fire evacuation plan. Know where your exits are. Here are some tips to make your room safe from fire:

- Do not overload your electrical circuits.
- Turn off heat bearing appliances (e.g., irons, curling irons, etc.)
- Keep room exits clear including windows.
- The use of candles, incense, oil lamps, etc., is prohibited.
- Toaster/broiler ovens, bottled gas appliances, or flammable liquids are not allowed in residential facilities.
- Do not hang cloth from ceilings or over your lights.
- If you see defective equipment or someone tampering with equipment, notify your RA.

Further Fire Safety and Emergency procedures can be found in the Residence Life Handbook. There are no additional plans for fire safety improvements.

Fire Alarm Systems & Equipment

The residence halls are equipped with a fire alarm system consisting of a control panel, alarmed fire exits, alarm pull stations, smoke detectors, heat detectors, and/or sprinkler pipes. Tampering with safety equipment (including AED stations) is a violation of State law. Hanging any item from a sprinkler head or pipe is also prohibited. Furniture, personal items, may not be within 18 inches of the ceiling, smoke detector or any other alarm equipment installed in the residence hall. Smoke detectors will be inspected periodically by residence life staff. Removal of the unit batteries or the unit itself or tampering with the detector in any way will result in disciplinary action. Use of fire escapes, except under emergency conditions, is prohibited.

When using appliances in the residence halls, please follow the manufacturer's safety precautions. Be sure to unplug appliances when you are not using them. Do not overload circuits or extension cords. The following items are prohibited because of a potential risk of fire and life-threatening injury to others: Appliances- The only appliances allowed in the residence halls are low-wattage microwave ovens (1000 watts or less), compact refrigerators (3 cu.ft or less.), appliances 24 with self-contained heating elements (coffee makers, crock pots, rice cookers) and other appliances such as irons and hair styling tools. All appliances must be UL-approved. Appliances not allowed in the residence halls include, but not limited to, space heaters, lava lamps, halogen lamps, toasters, toaster ovens, George Foreman Grills, hot plates, or any appliance with an open heating element. Any appliance that causes a false fire alarm will be subject to removal as well as the resident facing disciplinary action. Fire Hazards- No materials, liquid or otherwise, of an explosive or combustible nature shall be kept in the residence halls. Candles, Wax Warmers, Oil Lamps, Oil Warmers, Incense, Gas/Fuel or other substances are not permitted in residence halls. Fireworks/firecrackers are not permitted on campus in any form. Halogen, Neon, and Lava lamps are not permitted in the halls. Only artificial, flame-retardant Christmas trees are permitted. Electric Christmas lights must be UL-approved. Ground Regulations- In accordance with fire safety regulations, stairwells, and hallways must be kept free of furniture, bicycles, trash cans, debris or other obstructions at all times. Keep breezeways and entries uncluttered at all times. Do not store personal property in the breezeways or entries at any time. The path of egress must be kept clear at all times. Do not place cords or wires under rugs. Do not hang items from the sprinkler pipes, heads or smoke detectors in your room.

Fire Evacuation

NSU takes every precaution to prevent fires in residential facilities. If you hear the alarm or see a fire, remain calm. Act fast, but do not panic.

In case of fire, feel the door. If the door is hot or if smoke is seeping in:

- Do not open the door. Stay in your room. Let someone know you are there by opening your window just enough to hang a sheet out. This is a signal to the outside that someone is in there and needs help.
- Wedge a cloth or a towel around the door. If water is available, soak the towels before placing them around the door.
- Make a tent for yourself with the blanket in the window or cover your face with a wet cloth to avoid inhaling smoke. Wait until you are rescued, especially if you are on the 3rd floor or higher.

If the door is cool:

- Open the door slightly but be ready to close it if you find smoke or flames in the corridor. Leave if the corridor seems safe.
- Take your key and walk to the nearest fire exit, if there is no smoke. If smoke is detected or, if it's dark, crawl to the exit, counting doors so you don't get lost.
- Close all doors behind you.
- Do not use the elevators.
- Turn back if you encounter heavy smoke. Look for another exit.
- Leave the building as quickly as possible, using the proper exits and meet at your designated meeting area.

The following meeting areas have been designated evacuation sites in case of a fire:

- Cobb Hall residents should meet at the parking lot adjacent to the baseball fields.
- North Leoser Complex residents should meet with staff in the Wyly Hall parking lot.
- South Leoser Complex residents should meet with staff in the Physical Plant parking lot.
- Seminary Suites residents should meet with staff in the parking lot outside of their building (A & B at the optometry parking lot; C, D, E in the parking lot across from the clubhouse)
- Wyly Hall residents should meet with staff in the Wyly Hall parking lot.

Your RA and Hall Manager will be helping to evacuate the building while the NSU Department of Public Safety notifies the fire department. Help your staff by reporting to your designated evacuation area quickly, so they can begin a head count. Report any missing person to your hall staff.

FIRE SAFETY SYSTEMS FOR STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES, TAHLEQUAH CAMPUS

Facility	Sprinklers	Alarm System Coverage	Monitoring	Lighting
Courtside 1	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 2	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 3	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 4	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 5	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 6	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 7	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Courtside 8	0	Smoke detection in all rooms	NA	NA
Cobb Hall	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Leoser Hall	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Hastings Hall	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Logan Hall	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Ross Hall	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Seminary Suites A	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Seminary Suites B	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Seminary Suites C	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Seminary Suites D	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Seminary Suites E	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101
Wyly Hall	100%	100% NFPA 72	Propriety NFPA 72	Emergency Lighting Coverage NFPA 101

FIRE STATISTICS FOR STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES, TAHLEQUAH CAMPUS

	2021			2022	2023		
Facility	Fires	Cause of Fire	Fires	Cause of Fire	Fires	Cause of Fire	
Courtside 1	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 2	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 3	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 4	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 5	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 6	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 7	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Courtside 8	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Cobb Hall	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Leoser Hall	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
*Hastings Hall	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
*Logan Hall	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
*Ross Hall	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Seminary Suites A	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Seminary Suites B	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Seminary Suites C	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Seminary Suites D	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Seminary Suites E	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	
Wyly Hall	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	

^{*}Note, Hastings Hall, Logan Hall, and Ross Hall are offline, and not active residential halls.

Appendix A

POLICE SERVICE AGREEMENT

WHEREAS, the Regional University Systems of Oklahoma (RUSO) acting for and on behalf of Northeastern State University owns, leases, and rents property, namely the Northeastern State University Tahlequah Campus, within the city limits of the City of Tahlequah; and

WHEREAS, the Regional University Systems of Oklahoma (RUSO)acting for and on behalf of Northeastern State University Police Department, and City of Tahlequah have duly established and authorized law enforcement departments for the purpose of providing police protection for property and persons within each of their own jurisdictional areas; and

WHEREAS, Title 74 O.S. 2001 § 360.15 et seq, authorizes agreements between RUSO/Governing Board and Municipalities for the purpose of delineating responsibilities between the two police departments, delineating geographical boundaries thereof, and further, for the purpose of authorizing campus police departments to exercise authority and jurisdiction within areas of the municipality's jurisdiction.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Regional University Systems of Oklahoma (RUSO) acting for and on behalf of Northeastern State University, hereinafter referred to as "Board" and the City of Tahlequah Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as "City", agree as follows:

- The Northeastern State University Police Department hereafter referred to as
 "University Police", and its duly commissioned and certified police officers have the
 authority to enforce criminal statues, Tahlequah Municipal Ordinances on all property
 that is Board owned, leased, or rented within the Northeastern State University
 Tahlequah Campus.
- The University Police Department and its duly commissioned and certified officers are further authorized to exercise their power and authority as peace officers within the police jurisdiction of the city in the following situations:
 - a. When requested by any City Police Officer.
 - When necessary to complete any enforcement activities which began on Board property or property owned adjacent thereto.
 - When reasonably related to the activities of the University Police for the investigation of incidents occurring on Board property.
 - d. In any emergency situation or in a situation where proper action is necessary to prevent or avoid personal injury or property damages or the escape or an offender who is reasonably believed to be fleeing from the scene of a crime or to be resisting arrest.

- Authority as used in the Agreement means that authority and power vested by the Oklahoma Statues in Peace Officers, except the service and execution of civil summons, and includes, but is not limited to, making arrests, issuing of citations, conducting criminal investigations, and traffic accident investigations.
- 4. The jurisdiction of the University Police Department in the situations as set forth in Paragraphs two (2) and three (3) is concurrent with the jurisdiction of the Tablequah Police Department. As used herein, concurrent jurisdiction denotes authority shared by the two police departments at the same time, or the same subject matter, and within the same territory.
- 5. The University Police shall conduct some vehicle registration and tag information request through the Tahlequah Police Department via radio or cellular telephone. The Tahlequah Police Department will allow the University Police access to Dispatch 1 for emergency use only. Emergency use is defined as a "crime in progress". The University Police shall make all other requests for assistance by telephone.
- The University Police Department will have the primary, but not exclusive, responsibility of law enforcement, patrolling, and crime investigation only on or within Board property.
- 7. All other areas within the police jurisdiction of the City, including the areas wherein the University Police Department and the Tahlequah Police Department have by this Agreement concurrent jurisdiction, the Tahlequah Police Department will have the primary responsibility for law enforcement, patrolling, criminal investigations, call response, traffic accident investigations, and traffic control for the City of Tahlequah.
- 8. Each party shall solely be responsible for acts of its own police officers, employees, agents taken under this Agreement but not for the acts of the police officers, employees, or agents of the other party. It is expressly understood and agreed that nothing herein shall be construed as creating an employment or agency relationship between the City and the Board, its officers, employees, or agents, nor between the Tahlequah Police Department and the University Police Department, officers, employees, or agents.
- 9. The parties to this contract understand that time passes, situations change and ownership and occupancy varies. Parties therefore agree that each respective department is authorized, by the use of joint memorandum, joint mutual aid agreement and map, to delineate the responsibilities of each respective department and the geographical boundaries thereof, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- 10. The Northeastern State University Police Department and its duly commissioned and certified officers have the authority to enforce criminal statutes, Tahlequah municipal ordinances, and University rules and regulations on all property, including streets, highways, roads, alleys, casements, and other public ways or public property, including

streets, highways, and alleys that are inclusive or border University or Board owned, leased, or rented property.

 This Agreement is of indefinite duration and may be terminated by either party upon written notice to the other party thirty (30) days in advance of the date of termination.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set	their hands and seals this 5th day of
-	
ATTEST:	
REGIONAL UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF OKLAHOMA By:	THE CITY OF TAHLEQUAH, OKLAHOMA, A Municipal Corporation
Jan Goulon	Ken Purdy, Mayor of Tablegrah
1	
Michoell Nitchel	Deb Corn, City Clerk
(SEAL)	E Day
3 60	Clay Mananey, Chief of Polyce Tahlequah
Dr. Don Betz, President NSU	
20/200	
Patti D. Buhl, Chief of Police NSU	



ADDENDUM

The undersigned Oklahoma State Agency, Northeastern State University (NSU) hereby joins into the foregoing Agreement and Compact and joins as members of this Compact with all rights, privileges, duties and responsibilities as each of the other members as set out in the attached Resolution.

The Cherokee Nation and NSU will mutually benefit in areas of response to calls, protection of life and property, investigation and prosecution and other law enforcement services normally provided by working cooperatively together.

Regional University System of Oklahoma

By: Connic Seclly 7-29-10
Chair Date

Attest:

Secretary Mattock 7/29/10
Date

Northeastern State University

Don Betz, President Date

Patti D. Buhl, NSU Director of Public Safety

75

Appendix B- Oklahoma Statutes

Title 22 Oklahoma Statutes §60.1 Domestic Abuse

As used in the Protection from Domestic Abuse Act and in the Domestic Abuse Reporting Act, Sections 40.5 through 40.7 of this title and Section 150.12B of Title 74 of the Oklahoma Statutes:

- 1. "Domestic abuse" means any act of physical harm, or the threat of imminent physical harm which is committed by an adult, emancipated minor, or minor child thirteen (13) years of age or older against another adult, emancipated minor or minor child who are family or household members or who are or were in a dating relationship;
- 2. "Stalking" means the willful, malicious, and repeated following or harassment of a person by an adult, emancipated minor, or minor thirteen (13) years of age or older, in a manner that would cause a reasonable person to feel frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested and actually causes the person being followed or harassed to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed or molested. Stalking also means a course of conduct composed of a series of two or more separate acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose or unconsented contact with a person that is initiated or continued without the consent of the individual or in disregard of the expressed desire of the individual that the contact be avoided or discontinued. Unconsented contact or course of conduct includes, but is not limited to:
 - a. following or appearing within the sight of that individual,
 - b. approaching or confronting that individual in a public place or on private property,
 - c. appearing at the workplace or residence of that individual,
 - d. entering onto or remaining on property owned, leased, or occupied by that individual,
 - e. contacting that individual by telephone,
 - f. sending mail or electronic communications to that individual, or
 - g. placing an object on, or delivering an object to, property owned, leased or occupied by that individual;
- 3. "Harassment" means a knowing and willful course or pattern of conduct by a family or household member or an individual who is or has been involved in a dating relationship with the person, directed at a specific person which seriously alarms or annoys the person, and which serves no legitimate purpose. The course of conduct must be such as would cause a reasonable person to suffer substantial emotional distress, and must actually cause substantial distress to the person. "Harassment" shall include, but not be limited to, harassing or obscene telephone calls in violation of Section 1172 of Title 21 of the Oklahoma Statutes and fear of death or bodily injury;
- 4. "Family or household members" means:
 - a. spouses,
 - b. ex-spouses,
 - c. present spouses of ex-spouses,
 - d. parents, including grandparents, stepparents, adoptive parents and foster parents,
 - e. children, including grandchildren, stepchildren, adopted children and foster children,
 - f. persons otherwise related by blood or marriage,
 - g. persons living in the same household or who formerly lived in the same household, and

- h. persons who are the biological parents of the same child, regardless of their marital status, or whether they have lived together at any time. This shall include the elderly and handicapped;
- 5. "Dating relationship" means a courtship or engagement relationship. For purposes of this act, a casual acquaintance or ordinary fraternization between persons in a business or social context shall not constitute a dating relationship;
- 6. "Foreign protective order" means any valid order of protection issued by a court of another state or a tribal court;
- 7. "Rape" means rape and rape by instrumentation in violation of Sections 1111 and 1111.1 of Title 21 of the Oklahoma Statutes;
- 8. "Victim support person" means a person affiliated with a certified domestic violence or sexual assault program, certified by the Attorney General or certified by a recognized Native American Tribe if operating mainly within tribal lands, who provides support and assistance for a person who files a petition under the Protection from Domestic Violence Act; and
- 9. "Mutual protective order" means a final protective order or orders issued to both a plaintiff who has filed a petition for a protective order and a defendant included as the defendant in the plaintiff's petition restraining the parties from committing domestic violence, stalking, harassment or rape against each other. If both parties allege domestic abuse, violence, stalking, harassment or rape against each other, the parties shall do so by separate petition pursuant to Section 60.4 of this title.

Title 21 Oklahoma Statutes § 1111 Rape Defined

- A. Rape is an act of sexual intercourse involving vaginal or anal penetration accomplished with a male or female who is not the spouse of the perpetrator and who may be of the same or the opposite sex as the perpetrator under any of the following circumstances:
 - 1. Where the victim is under sixteen (16) years of age;
 - 2. Where the victim is incapable through mental illness or any other unsoundness of mind, whether temporary or permanent, of giving legal consent;
 - 3. Where force or violence is used or threatened, accompanied by apparent power of execution to the victim or to another person;
 - 4. Where the victim is intoxicated by a narcotic or anesthetic agent, administered by or with the privity of the accused as a means of forcing the victim to submit;
 - 5. Where the victim is at the time unconscious of the nature of the act and this fact is known to the accused;
 - 6. Where the victim submits to sexual intercourse under the belief that the person committing the act is a spouse, and this belief is induced by artifice, pretense, or concealment practiced by the accused or by the accused in collusion with the spouse with intent to induce that belief. In all cases of collusion between the accused and the spouse to accomplish such act, both the spouse and the accused, upon conviction, shall be deemed guilty of rape;
 - 7. Where the victim is under the legal custody or supervision of a state agency, a federal agency, a county, a municipality or a political subdivision and engages in sexual intercourse with a state, federal, county, municipal or political subdivision employee or

- an employee of a contractor of the state, the federal government, a county, a municipality or a political subdivision that exercises authority over the victim;
- 8. Where the victim is at least sixteen (16) years of age and is less than twenty (20) years of age and is a student, or under the legal custody or supervision of any public or private elementary or secondary school, junior high or high school, or public vocational school, and engages in sexual intercourse with a person who is eighteen (18) years of age or older and is an employee of the same school system; or
- 9. Where the victim is nineteen (19) years of age or younger and is in the legal custody of a state agency, federal agency or tribal court and engages in sexual intercourse with a foster parent or foster parent applicant.
- B. Rape is an act of sexual intercourse accomplished with a male or female who is the spouse of the perpetrator if force or violence is used or threatened, accompanied by apparent power of execution to the victim or to another person.

21 Oklahoma Statutes § 1111.1 Rape by Instrumentation

- A. Rape by instrumentation is an act within or without the bonds of matrimony in which any inanimate object or any part of the human body, not amounting to sexual intercourse is used in the carnal knowledge of another person without his or her consent and penetration of the anus or vagina occurs to that person.
- B. Provided, further, that at least one of the circumstances specified in Section 1111 of this title has been met; further, where the victim is at least sixteen (16) years of age and is less than twenty (20) years of age and is a student, or under the legal custody or supervision of any public or private elementary or secondary school, junior high or high school, or public vocational school, and engages in conduct prohibited by this section of law with a person who is eighteen (18) years of age or older and is an employee of the same school system, or where the victim is under the legal custody or supervision of a state or federal agency, county, municipal or a political subdivision and engages in conduct prohibited by this section of law with a federal, state, county, municipal or political subdivision employee or an employee of a contractor of the state, the federal government, a county, a municipality or a political subdivision that exercises authority over the victim, consent shall not be an element of the crime.
- C. Provided, further, that at least one of the circumstances specified in Section 1111 of this title has been met; further, where the victim is nineteen (19) years of age or younger and in the legal custody of a state agency, federal agency or tribal court and engages in conduct prohibited by this section of law with a foster parent or foster parent applicant.
- D. Except for persons sentenced to life or life without parole, any person sentenced to imprisonment for two (2) years or more for a violation of this section shall be required to serve a term of post-imprisonment supervision pursuant to subparagraph f of paragraph 1 of subsection A of Section 991a of Title 22 of the Oklahoma Statutes under conditions determined by the Department of Corrections. The jury shall be advised that the mandatory post- imprisonment supervision shall be in addition to the actual imprisonment.

21 Oklahoma Statutes § 888 Forcible Sodomy.

A. Any person who forces another person to engage in the detestable and abominable crime against nature, pursuant to Section 886 of this title, upon conviction, is guilty of a felony

punishable by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a period of not more than twenty (20) years. Except for persons sentenced to life or life without parole, any person sentenced to imprisonment for two (2) years or more for a violation of this subsection shall be required to serve a term of post-imprisonment supervision pursuant to subparagraph f of paragraph 1 of subsection A of Section 991a of Title 22 of the Oklahoma Statutes under conditions determined by the Department of Corrections. The jury shall be advised that the mandatory post- imprisonment supervision shall be in addition to the actual imprisonment. Any person convicted of a second violation of this section, where the victim of the second offense is a person under sixteen (16) years of age, shall not be eligible for probation, suspended or deferred sentence. Any person convicted of a third or subsequent violation of this section, where the victim of the third or subsequent offense is a person under sixteen (16) years of age, shall be punished by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a term of life or life without parole, in the discretion of the jury, or in case the jury fails or refuses to fix punishment then the same shall be pronounced by the court. Any person convicted of a violation of this subsection after having been twice convicted of a violation of subsection A of Section 1114 of this title, a violation of Section 1123 of this title or sexual abuse of a child pursuant to Section 7115 of Title 10 of the Oklahoma Statutes, or of any attempt to commit any of these offenses or any combination of said offenses, shall be punished by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a term of life or life without parole.

B. The crime of forcible sodomy shall include: 1. Sodomy committed by a person over eighteen (18) years of age upon a person under sixteen (16) years of age; or 2. Sodomy committed upon a person incapable through mental illness or any unsoundness of mind of giving legal consent regardless of the age of the person committing the crime; or 3. Sodomy accomplished with any person by means of force, violence, or threats of force or violence accompanied by apparent power of execution regardless of the age of the victim or the person committing the crime; or 4. Sodomy committed by a state, county, municipal or political subdivision employee or a contractor or an employee of a contractor of the state, a county, a municipality or political subdivision of this state upon a person who is under the legal custody, supervision or authority of a state agency, a county, a municipality or a political subdivision of this state; or 5. Sodomy committed upon a person who is at least sixteen (16) years of age but less than twenty (20) years of age and is a student of any public or private secondary school, junior high or high school, or public vocational school, with a person who is eighteen (18) years of age or older and is employed by the same school system.

Oklahoma Statutes Title 21 § 1173 Stalking

- A. Any person who willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly follows or harasses another person in a manner that:
 - Would cause a reasonable person or a member of the immediate family of that person as defined in subsection F of this section to feel frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested; and
 - 2. Actually causes the person being followed or harassed to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested, shall, upon conviction, be guilty of the crime of stalking, which is a misdemeanor punishable by imprisonment in a county jail

for not more than one (1) year, or by a fine of not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), or by both such fine and imprisonment.

- B. Any person who violates the provisions of subsection A of this section when:
 - There is a permanent or temporary restraining order, a protective order, an emergency
 ex parte protective order, or an injunction in effect prohibiting the behavior described in
 subsection A of this section against the same party, when the person violating the
 provisions of subsection A of this section has actual notice of the issuance of such order
 or injunction;
 - 2. Said person is on probation or parole, a condition of which prohibits the behavior described in subsection A of this section against the same party or under the conditions of a community or alternative punishment; or
 - 3. Said person, within ten (10) years preceding the violation of subsection A of this section, completed the execution of sentence for a conviction of a crime involving the use or threat of violence against the same party, or against any member of the immediate family of such party, shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a term not exceeding five (5) years, or by a fine of not more than Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500.00), or by both such fine and imprisonment.

C. Any person who:

- 1. Commits a second act of stalking within ten (10) years of the completion of sentence for a prior conviction of stalking; or
- 2. Has a prior conviction of stalking and, after being served with a protective order that prohibits contact with an individual, knowingly makes unconsented contact with the same individual, shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a term not exceeding five (5) years, or by a fine of not less than Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500.00), or by both such fine and imprisonment.
- D. Any person who commits an act of stalking within ten (10) years of the completion of execution of sentence for a prior conviction under subsection B or C of this section shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a term not exceeding ten (10) years, or by a fine of not less than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or by both such fine and imprisonment.
- E. Evidence that the defendant continued to engage in a course of conduct involving repeated unconsented contact, as defined in subsection F of this section, with the victim after having been requested by the victim to discontinue the same or any other form of unconsented contact, and to refrain from any further unconsented contact with the victim, shall give rise to a rebuttable presumption that the continuation of the course of conduct caused the victim to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested.

F. For purposes of this section:

"Harasses" means a pattern or course of conduct directed toward another individual
that includes, but is not limited to, repeated or continuing unconsented contact, that
would cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress, and that actually causes
emotional distress to the victim. Harassment shall include harassing or obscene phone
calls as prohibited by Section 1172 of this title and conduct prohibited by Section 850 of

- this title. Harassment does not include constitutionally protected activity or conduct that serves a legitimate purpose;
- "Course of conduct" means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of two or more separate acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose. Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of "course of conduct";
- 3. "Emotional distress" means significant mental suffering or distress that may, but does not necessarily require, medical or other professional treatment or counseling;
- 4. "Unconsented contact" means any contact with another individual that is initiated or continued without the consent of the individual, or in disregard of that individual's expressed desire that the contact be avoided or discontinued. Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of unconsented contact. Unconsented contact includes but is not limited to any of the following:
 - a. following or appearing within the sight of that individual,
 - b.approaching or confronting that individual in a public place or on private property,
 - c. appearing at the workplace or residence of that individual,
 - d.entering onto or remaining on property owned, leased, or occupied by that individual,
 - e. contacting that individual by telephone,
 - f. sending mail or electronic communications to that individual, and
 - g. placing an object on, or delivering an object to, property owned, leased, or occupied by that individual; and
- 5. "Member of the immediate family", for the purposes of this section, means any spouse, parent, child, person related within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity or any other person who regularly resides in the household or who regularly resided in the household within the prior six (6) months.